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CORPORATE STRUCTURE
LIS

Below is the structure chart of Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group) as at
31 March 2021

UTARREZARAR (27 REWBAE (KAEE) R2021E383M1B 2R B E :

SIIC Medical Science and
Technology (Group) Limited
3 +
£33

Tianda Group Limited (Tianda Group)
AAEEERAR(RAKHE)

A%

Public Shareholders
S E

RXEEXFRAE

N TIANDA PHARMACEUTICALS LIMITED

(Stock code: 00455)
e )

00455
100% 100% 100%
Tianda Chinese Yunyu Bio-Pharmaceutical Co., Limited
Tianda Ph: tticals Limited
Medicine Limited el EELLIP N
(Note 2) (HizE2)
(FifEE2) e
100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 55%
( P I
Tianda Chinese Tianda Pharmaceuticals Tianda Bitech Limied Tianda Pharmaceuticals Yunnan Meng Sheng
Pty. Ltd. " (Hong Kong) Limited Tianda Healthcare N
Medicine Limited FFIT) Tianda Realty Limited Investment Limited Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd.
A . ’ (3 (Note 2) (Note2) BREEEARAT
. (Fif3F2) Loed (Note 5)
(Note 1) "(Noig 3)“ GED) (i)
) (FiE1) _ (B3E3)
99.90%
Tianda Chinese 0.10% 100% 100%
Medicine Limited
Sociedade de Medicina Tianda Pharmaceuticals Tanda Realty
Chinesa Tianda L\m\tada (China) Ltd.* (HongKong) L ited
(Note 3)
(BEE3)
TDMall (Group) Limited
10 Sociedade TDMall (Grupo) 100% 100%
010% Limitada
AABURE)BRAA Zhuhai Tianda Tianda Pharmaceuticals
,l_N‘OS[ 4 Realty Ltd.* (Zhuhai) Ltd.*
(FfiaE4) 35 =3
100%
TOMall(China) Ltd*
RAEE(FR)ERAR)

(Note 5)

Zhuhai TDMall Ltd.*
WERAAEARRT

Shenzhen TDMall Ltd."
AR AR AR

100%

Processed Chinese
(Note 5) Herbal Medicine Ltd.*
(BtaEs) TRIGR AP L)
v Al
100% (Note 5)
Guangzhou TDMall Ltd.* (Hi3E5)
BEMARALE
(Note 5)
(BtaE5)
100%

100%

Zhuhai Tianda

Notes FfizE :

(1) Incorporated in Australia with limited liability
FBRAFEEFMMIZARAR
(2)  Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability
REBEARBEEIMBILZERAR
(3)  Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
Tianda Chinese E?é?ﬁ%iﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁZEﬁ AT
Medicine Institute Limited
sméﬁ?ﬁ?fﬁ!ﬁf'"a (4)  Incorporated in Macau with limited liability
4% | TandaLimitada 9% HORPIEMA L Z BRAT
RRF R
(5) Incorporated in the PRC with limited liability

Zhuhai Tianda Chinese

Medicine Research And
Development *
b2

(Note 5)

(FtiEs)

RAEERRIIZARAR

For identification purpose only
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Tianda for Health!

Awards #¥£752020-2021

\ PR EIRES y
: FAEE 4
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Chinese Medicine Services
B mEA2021 - PEREEARS
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KE—iE
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BE - ERUTRRERAK - HEURKRFRAR (RIFRRIREL)

Metro Finance and Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency

MBS EREERERER

Caring Company

7 57 /R 1 182020/2021 . R REE
2020721

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service gﬁgﬂ%ggmgggg

EBMIREHS e

P

R&D and Production Base R&D and Production Base R&D and Production Base
(Kunming, China) (Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai) (Jinwan District, Zhuhai)

Bt 3% B S EE EL M (E2 PR) B 3% R A EE B (BB E M)

AR R R M (BB R )

-

Zhuhai TDMall TDMall (Céuseway Bay) TDMall (Sydney)

BRiBRKEE RAKEE(HHE) BRERKEE
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Mr. FANG Wen Quan, aged 52, was appointed as an Executive Director
since 6 October 2003. He is currently the Chairman, the Managing
Director, the chairman of the nomination committee and a member
of the remuneration committee and the risk management committee
of the Company, and a director of the Group’s certain subsidiaries.
Mr. Fang is the founder, chairman and beneficial owner of Tianda
Group Limited (the controlling shareholder of the Company holding
1,194,971,370 Shares). Mr. Fang currently is the chairman of the
board of directors, general manager and authorized representative
of Tianda Culture Holdings (China) Limited* (listed on the National
Equities Exchange and Quotations Systems, company code: 837889).
Mr. Fang studied International Relations in the University of Sydney and
Tsinghua University. He has ample experience in corporate strategy
and management. He established a non-profit strategic studies think
tank named “Tianda Institute”. Upholding the mission of “Caring for
a Better World”, Mr. Fang always shows his greater commitment to
community services, including donations to the poverties, education and
talent development, healthcare, scientific research and environmental
protection, culture and arts.

Mr. LUI Man Sang, aged 57, was appointed as an Executive Director
of the Company on 30 September 2013 and is a director of the Group’s
certain subsidiaries. Mr. Lui joined Tianda Group, the controlling
shareholder of the Company in 2007 and is the deputy general manager
of Tianda Group. He is responsible for the financial issues of Tianda
Group and the Company. Mr. Lui is a director of Tianda Culture
Holdings (China) Limited (listed on the National Equities Exchange
and Quotations, company code: 837889). Mr. Lui possesses enriched
financial management experience covering a variety of industries
including auditing in one of the big four accounting firms in Hong
Kong and overseeing the finance department of a Hong Kong listed
company. He holds an Executive MBA granted by City University of
Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

*

For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESTE

Mr. SHEN Bo, aged 48, was appointed as a Non-executive Director and
a member of the audit committee of the Company on 10 August 2015.
He is a non-practicing member of certified public accountant of the
People’s Republic of China. He received his bachelor degrees majoring
in accounting and economics from Shanghai Institute of Construction
Materials Industry and master of accountancy from Chinese University
of Hong Kong. Mr. Shen is the executive director, vice president and
chief financial officer of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd.,* (a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code 601607,
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, with stock code 02607), the chairman of SPH Changzhou
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., the chairman of Shanghai Medical Instruments
Co., Ltd., the chairman of Shanghai Hefeng Pharmaceuticals Limited,
the chairman of Shanghai Traditional Chinese Medicine Co., Ltd. and
an executive director of China International Pharmaceutical (Holding)
Corporation Limited. Mr. Shen is a non-executive director of Shanghai
Fudan-Zhangjiang Bio-Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* (a company listed on
the Science and Technology Innovation Board of the Shanghai Stock
Exchange with stock code 688505 and Hong Kong Stock Exchange with
stock code 1349). Mr. Shen served as manager of finance department
and chief financial officer in several large companies in mainland China
so has extensive experience in corporate management, financial control,
and governance of pharmaceutical companies. From April 2001 to March
2010, Mr. Shen served as the head of financial planning department,
general manager of finance department and chief financial officer in
Shanghai Industrial Pharmaceutical Investment Co, Ltd.* (a company
formerly listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code 600607).
During the same period, Mr. Shen also served as the general manager of
finance department of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals (Group) Co., Ltd.

Mr. FENG Quanming, aged 44, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director on 23 March 2016. Mr. Feng is the head of the finance
department of Hongta Tabacco (Group) Limited (Hongta), which holds
9.66% equity interest in the Company. He has extensive experience in
corporate financial accounting and asset management. Mr. Feng joined
Hongta in July 2001. During the period from August 2007 to September
2014, he took various positions in the finance department of Hongta,
including deputy head of industrial finance division, head and deputy
head of asset management division and head of general management
division. He was also the head of financial planning division of Yunnan
Hongta Group Co., Ltd*, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hongta, during
the period from June 2013 to August 2014. Mr. Feng obtained his
bachelor degree in accounting at Southwestern University of Finance
and Economics in 2001 and master in business administration
at Renmin University of China in 2009. Mr. Feng possesses the
qualification of practising certified public accountant in mainland China.

*

For identification purpose only
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Dr. LAM Lee G., aged 61, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company with effect from 1 January 2018. Dr. Lam holds a BSc
in sciences and mathematics, an MSc in systems science and an MBA
from the University of Ottawa in Canada, a post-graduate diploma in
public administration from Carleton University in Canada, a
post-graduate diploma in English and Hong Kong Law and an LLB
(Hons) in law from Manchester Metropolitan University in the UK, a LLM
in law from the University of Wolverhampton in the UK, a PCLL in law
from the City University of Hong Kong, a Certificate in Professional
Accountancy from the Chinese University of Hong Kong SCS, an MPA
and a PhD from the University of Hong Kong. A former member of the
Hong Kong Bar, Dr. Lam is a Solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong,
an Accredited Mediator of the Centre for Effective Dispute Resolution
(CEDR), a Fellow of Certified Management Accountants (CMA)
Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators, the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors and the Institute of Corporate Directors Malaysia
(ICDM) and an Honorary Fellow of Certified Public Accountants (CPA)
Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of Facility Management and the
University of Hong Kong School of Professional and Continuing
Education. In 2019, Dr. Lam was awarded by the Hong Kong
Government a Bronze Bauhinia Star for serving the public.

Dr. Lam has over 30 years of international experience in general
management, strategy consulting, corporate governance, direct
investment, investment banking and fund management. He is Chairman
of Hong Kong Cyberport, a member of the Committee on Innovation,
Technology and Re-Industrialization, the Governance Committee of the
Hong Kong Growth Portfolio, and the Development Bureau Common
Spatial Data Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region Government, Convenor of the Panel of Advisors
on Building Management Disputes of the HKSAR Government Home
Affairs Department, a member of the Court of the City University of
Hong Kong and the Tencent Finance Academy (Hong Kong) Advisory
Board, Chairman of the United Nations Economic and Social
Commission for Asia and the Pacific (UN ESCAP) Sustainable Business
Network (ESBN), Vice Chairman of Pacific Basin Economic Council
(PBEC), and a member of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council
Belt and Road and Greater Bay Area Committee and the Sir Murray
MacLehose Trust Fund Investment Advisory Committee.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESTE

Mr. LAM Yat Fai, aged 55, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, a member of the remuneration committee and a
member of audit committee of the Company in 2004. On 26 November
2013, he was appointed as the chairman of the audit committee. He was
appointed as a member of nomination committee and risk management
committee on 22 July 2009. He is a Certified Public Accountant
(Practising). He is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Lam worked with Kwan Wong Tan
& Fong and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for over 10 years. Mr. Lam has
accumulated rich experience in auditing, taxation, corporate finance and
accounting over the years. Mr. Lam is an independent non-executive
director of Oriental Press Group Limited (stock code: 0018), which is
listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. CHIU Sung Hong, aged 74, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company with effect from 10 April 2008. Mr. Chiu ceased to act as
the chairman of the audit committee and remained as a member of
the committee on 26 November 2013. Mr. Chiu was appointed as the
chairman of risk management committee on 22 July 2009. On 1 April
2012, he was appointed as the chairman of the remuneration committee
and a member of the nomination committee. He received an LL.B.
degree from the University of Sydney. He is admitted as a solicitor of
the Supreme Court of New South Wales and the High Court of Australia.
He has over 40 years of experience in legal practice. Mr. Chiu is the
founding member of the Board of Trustees of the Australian Nursing
Home Foundation and a senior research fellow of Centre for Law &
Globalization of Renmin University of China. He also served as the
General Secretary of Australian Chinese Community Association of
New South Wales. Mr. Chiu is an independent non-executive director of
CNOOC Limited (stock code: 0883), which is listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and Bank of China (Australia) Limited.
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Mr. CHIU Fan Wa, aged 56, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, a member of the remuneration committee
and audit committee of the Company on 31 March 2009. Mr. Chiu is
a founder and the managing director of Chiu, Choy & Chung C.P.A.
Limited, and a partner of F. S. Li & Co. He graduated from City
University of Hong Kong and obtained a Bachelor of Arts (Honours)
degree with major in accountancy in 1992 and was awarded a
Master of Professional Accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2002. He is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) in
Hong Kong, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, a fellow member of the Institute of the Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, a fellow member of The Society
of Chinese Accountants & Auditors, an associate of The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and an associate of The Chartered
Governance Institute, a fellow member of The Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong and a Chartered Tax Advisor.
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REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
EFERWE

With the deepening of healthcare reform in China and the impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic on the business model, the pharmaceutical
industry is facing both challenges and opportunities. Adhering to
the strategies of “development of Chinese medicine as foundation,
development of innovative drugs and medical technologies, as well as
development of quality medical and healthcare services”, the Group
has increased its investment in research and development (‘R&D”),
strengthened product development and introduction, while accelerating
comprehensively the development of its Chinese medicine business
and medical and healthcare services in line with relevant national
policies. At the same time, the Group has implemented a “two-pronged”
development model of “promoting organic growth alongside increased
efforts in inorganic growth” actively considering merger and acquisition
opportunities so as to create maximum value for shareholders.

For the Chinese medicine business, in line with the national
policies supporting the Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) industry,
the Group has in the last five years forged a complete TCM industrial
chain layout, covering the supply of Chinese medicinal materials,
production of Chinese medicine products, R&D of Chinese medicine, a
comprehensive Chinese medicine product portfolio, as well as domestic
and overseas marketing network. Emphasizing authentic source,
upholding professionalism and prioritizing standards, the Group has
attached great importance to the quality of both medicinal materials and
products and established the “Tianda Standard”, which exceeds the
national quality standards for Chinese medicinal materials, to ensure
the quality, reliability, controllability and traceability of our Chinese
medicinal materials from the very beginning. The Group has also
implemented the strategy of constructing Chinese medicinal materials
base and conducting trading business, covering the main production
areas in China, so as to build a nationwide and global business network
for the Chinese medicinal materials business.

Annual Report 2021

Bl A B o EFE RS o 0 L FrE Ab
REFHEERANTE > BEITENLS
MBI F - ZEBEBETUERTBEE
ERER > ZRAMMEYMBERER R %
RESBRBEMRERT BV - MAHE
BAIREMRAEMSIE > MHIZEEK
EEXENER MEZEEEFBREEZRE
BRNFRERFBNER  -FAR > AEBEH
MEERREER - MAIMNEEIRRIE
remiEs, HFREN > RIREERES
EMhERE BEERAHBERE AR
RAIE&RAEE-

PREXBHE IEREKYFRE
EENZHHR  *EREBTAFNE
NEBRTRPBELEREMRF > HE
REEMHE s PELE PERE PR
EEME  RERIIMTH BHAR &
EAEx REXRT AEESEEREM
mBEMEmME > BIUEREMBEET
BRERRENTRARE > LRAE L
RPEMmER R AE AJEM -1 E
MREMBEMZRMNEEEZ R > fi
RBEHEETEE  HEEARZEZKAFE
MEB L -

| 7775 2021 I



14 ESEEEPE

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
EFERIE

For the Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies business,
the Group has actively responded to the changes in the healthcare
reform policy by strengthening the R&D of new products and new
product collaboration, innovating the sales model and further developing
domestic hospitals, OTC markets and overseas markets to strengthen
the Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies business while promoting
the growth of the innovative drugs business. During the second half
of 2020, our major product, Valsartan capsules succeeded in securing
first place in the nation’s Third Round of Centralized Drug Procurement
with Target Quantity for a term of three years. Taking advantage of the
successful experience of Valsartan capsules, the Group will endeavour
to secure the inclusion of its other products into the centralized drug
procurement schemes to further expand the sales to hospitals and to
drive the development of OTC markets and overseas markets. The
Group’s new R&D and production base in Jinwan District of Zhuhai will
be completed and put into production within this year, set to become a
first class modern pharmaceutical and health industrial base in China
meeting international quality control standards.

For the Medical and healthcare services, the modern Chinese
medical clinic chain “TDMall” is based in the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area, expanding into the rest of China and
foreign markets. TDMalls have been opened in Zhuhai, Hong Kong
and Sydney successively since 2019 with the aim to build the chain
operation model under three different local laws and regulations for
Chinese medicine, which accomplished the first step of the “three-step”
development plan. Next, TDMall will take the second step to further
the development of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area and explore domestic and foreign markets in due course. At the
same time, it will build a cloud technology based Chinese medicine
platform - “TDMall on Cloud”, which will provide online intelligent
Chinese medicine consultation and treatment services supported
by cross-region joint expert consultation services and other salient
features, so as to realize Chinese medicine consultation and treatment
beyond borders. The third step is for TDMall to expand nationally and
globally in accordance with the strategic plan of “one clinic in every
county, one mini-clinic in every town” and “one clinic in every nation,
many in every major nation’, with the aim to open 10,000 TDMalls
worldwide through self-funding, mergers and acquisitions, franchising
and partnerships, while actively integrating modern medicine and
other innovative technologies to become the leading brand of Chinese
medical clinic.
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REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
EFERWE

The Group pays attention to the development and latest
achievements of pharmaceutical and health technologies globally,
continuously increases investment in R&D, strengthens innovation
capabilities, accelerates technological progress, optimizes product mix
and service standards to gain sustainable competitive advantages. The
Group is actively pushing forward R&D of innovative drugs for treating
tumors, viral infections, diabetes, and cardiovascular and pediatrics
medications. At the same time, the Group is in close discussion with
leading research institutes such as the China Academy of Chinese
Medical Sciences to focus on the collaborative development of
innovative Chinese medicines with clinical values applying modern
scientific technologies and inheriting the advantages and theoretical
characteristics of Chinese medicine.

Looking ahead to 2021, the global economy is expected to get
back on track as the pandemic will be brought under control. The
deepening of healthcare reform in Mainland China presents both
challenges and opportunities. The Group will continue to implement the
“Three Developments” strategy, and respond proactively to the changing
and challenging environment, adhere to tradition and pursue innovation,
seize the opportunities brought by the macro environment and industrial
policies, committed to become a leading pharmaceutical enterprise that
sets its footholds in China while seeking to expand its presence around
the world.

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to our clients, staff, business partners and shareholders for their
unremitting confidence in and support for the Group, and also the Board
of Directors for their efforts and contributions to the Group’s expeditious
business growth.

Fang Wen Quan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Adhering to the strategies of “development of Chinese
medicine as foundation, development of innovative drugs and medical
technologies, as well as development of quality medical and healthcare
services”, the Group has increased its investment in research and
development (“R&D”), strengthened product development and
introduction, while accelerating comprehensively the development of
its Chinese medicine business and medical and healthcare services
in line with relevant national policies. For the purpose of reflecting the
latest business development, the Group has redefined and renamed its
business segments as Chinese medicine business (formerly known as
Chinese medical business), Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies
business (formerly known as pharmaceutical and biotechnology
business) and Medical and healthcare services.

Revenue of the Chinese medicine business increased significantly
from approximately HK$46.20 million for the year ended 31 March 2020
(FYE 2020) to approximately HK$112.00 million for the year ended
31 March 2021 (the Current Financial Year). In line with the national
policies supporting the Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) industry,
the Group has in the last five years forged a complete TCM industrial
chain layout, covering the supply of Chinese medicinal materials,
production of Chinese medicine products, R&D of Chinese medicine, a
comprehensive Chinese medicine product portfolio, as well as domestic
and overseas marketing network. Emphasizing authentic source,
upholding professionalism and prioritizing standards, the Group has
attached great importance to the quality of medicinal materials and
products and has established the “Tianda Standard”, which exceeds the
national quality standards for Chinese medicinal materials, to ensure
the quality, reliability, controllability and traceability of our Chinese
medicinal materials from the very beginning. The Group has also
implemented the strategy of constructing Chinese medicinal materials
base and conducting trading business, covering the main production
areas in China, expanding domestic and overseas markets and utilizing
various feasible ways to achieve mutually beneficial cooperation with
partners such as medicinal materials farmers, cooperatives, distributors
and pharmaceutical enterprises, so as to build a nationwide and global
business network for the Chinese medicinal materials business.
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For the Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies business, the
Group’s products include biological and chemical drugs and proprietary
Chinese medicines, mainly cardiovascular and pediatric drugs for
treating flu and respiratory disorders, infections, addictions, tumors
and other therapeutic areas, as well as a series of healthcare products
under the brand names of “Herb Valley” (f1%) and “Tuokang” (B2
). The revenue decreased from approximately HK$443.60 million in
FYE 2020 to approximately HK$357.70 million in the Current Financial
Year, mainly due to the impact of the adjustment in the new national
medical insurance catalog and precautionary measures against
the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affecting the revenue from our
major products Cerebroprotein hydrolysate and pediatric anti-flu and
respiratory drugs respectively. The Group actively responded to the
changes in the healthcare reform policy by strengthening the R&D
of new products and new product collaboration, innovating the sales
model, participating in national centralized drug procurement scheme,
and further developing domestic hospitals, OTC markets and overseas
markets to strengthen the Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies
business while promoting the growth of the innovative drugs business.
During the Current Financial Year, Valsartan capsules, another major
product of the Group, succeeded in securing first place in the nation’s
Third Round of Centralized Drug Procurement with Target Quantity for
a term of three years. Taking advantage of the successful experience
of Valsartan capsules, the Group will endeavour to secure the inclusion
of its other products into the centralized drug procurement schemes
to further expand the sales to hospitals and to drive the development
of OTC markets and overseas markets. The Group’s new R&D and
production base in Jinwan District of Zhuhai will be completed and put
into production within this year, set to become a first class modern
pharmaceutical and healthcare industrial park in China meeting
international quality control standards.
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As a platform for Medical and healthcare services, the modern
Chinese medical clinic chain “TDMall” is based in the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area, expanding into the rest of China and
foreign markets. TDMalls have been opened in Zhuhai, Hong Kong
and Sydney successively since 2019 with the aim to build the chain
operation model under three different local laws and regulations for
Chinese medicine. The “TDMall” business is still in the investment stage
and continues to grow, with revenue increased from approximately
HK$1.70 million in FYE 2020 to approximately HK$4.70 million in the
Current Financial Year. In line with changes in consumption patterns
in the new era and leveraging Internet technology, big data, Al and
other innovative technologies, the Group strives to build and accelerate
the development of the cloud technology based Chinese medicine
platform — “TDMall on Cloud”, which is committed to providing one-stop
online intelligent remote Chinese medicine consultation and treatment
services, supported by salient features such as cross-region joint
expert consultation services and Chinese medicine delivery service.
As “TDMall” continues to expand in the domestic, overseas and
international markets as well as on cloud, it will greatly contribute to the
long-term development of the Group’s Chinese medicine business as a
whole.

In terms of innovation and R&D, the Group’s R&D team continued
their efforts in accordance with the Group’s strategies and market
demands, with steady progress achieved in the Current Financial Year:
1) Valsartan capsules passed the conformity assessment, Q&A and
obtained application approval, and subsequently came in first place in
the nation’s Third Round of Centralized Drug Procurement with Target
Quantity; 2) Of the TCM anti-epidemic formulae including “Anti-Epidemic
Formula 1” (for prevention), “Anti-Epidemic Formula 2” (for remedy) and
“Anti-Epidemic Formula 3” (for rehabilitation) developed in collaboration
with authoritative Chinese medicine expert teams in the early days
of the COVID-19 outbreak, the “Anti-Epidemic Formula 1" granules
were approved for entry into the Australian Register of Therapeutic
Goods as a listed medicine during the Current Financial Year; while
the pharmacological study and clinical trials and observations for
“Anti-Epidemic Formula 1” as TDMall’s first pharmaceutical preparation
of medical institutions was launched and applied for domestic and
foreign patent protection; 3) established the project for the conformity
assessment of lbuprofen suspension and Ibuprofen suspension drops,
and signed the contract for commissioned research; 4) established
the Nicorandil project, and signed the contract for commissioned
R&D; 5) completed the development of the prescription process for
the project of montelukast sodium granules for pediatric asthma,
and completed the investigation and established the project of
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aminoglutethimide oral solution; 6) acquired the Xiaoer Qingre Zhike
Granule (\527EZRIEMZEERI), a Chinese patent medicine on the
market, and is in the process of transferring the complete ownership of
the technology and intellectual property rights; 7) continued to promote
the R&D of Classic Ancient Prescription Chinese medicine compound
preparations; 8) initiated the screening and introduction of new drugs
based on the selection of clinical and classical prescriptions of famous
doctors and medicine practitioners; 9) initiated the in-depth exploration
and design of new drug development of improved Chinese medicine for
Yi An Huisheng Decoction (z2Z[E]14 MARA) based on the clinical
value; 10) applied cerebroprotein extraction patent technology in the
development of anti-aging daily chemical and healthy food series; and
(11) developed Chinese medicine healthcare products such as tea
bags, soup packages and Chinese medicine paste, medicine and food
homologous health product series, facial masks series, disinfectant
gel, Zhikang health series products, instant bird’s nest and antiviral
throat lozenge in line with TDMall’'s business development and market
demands.

OUTLOOK

The COVID-19 pandemic has made the Group more determined
to demonstrate its responsibility and accountability through actions.
Thus, the Group will continue to implement the “Three Developments”
strategy, and actively review merger and acquisition opportunities
for promising innovative drugs, medical technologies and healthcare
projects, so as to accelerate the business growth and scale expansion,
thereby driving the Group’s overall development.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the Current Financial Year, the Group recorded a
consolidated revenue of approximately HK$474.30 million (FYE 2020:
approximately HK$491.50 million) from its principal activities, gross
profit of approximately HK$259.00 million (FYE 2020: approximately
HK$361.00 million) and gross profit margin of 54.6% (FYE 2020:
73.5%). Loss attributable to owners of the parent for the Current
Financial Year was approximately HK$27.10 million (FYE 2020: profit
attributable to owners of the parent of approximately HK$3.10 million).
The decline in results for the Current Financial Year as compared to
FYE 2020 was mainly due to higher R&D expenses and lower gross
profit in the Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies business,
offsetting the growth in gross profit in the Chinese medicine business
and Medical and healthcare services.

Revenue of the Chinese medicine business increased from
approximately HK$46.20 million in FYE 2020 to approximately
HK$112.00 million in the Current Financial Year while the gross profit
increased from HK$5.10 million in FYE 2020 to HK$11.00 million in the
Current Financial Year, benefiting from the national policy supporting
the TCM industry and the Group’s efforts to cover the main production
areas of Chinese medicinal materials in China, to expand domestically
and abroad, as well as to form mutually beneficial cooperation with
partners such as medicinal materials farmers, cooperatives, distributors
and pharmaceutical companies.

A %5 O] B8

EMBEE > rEBGEESTEERK
AZ4ET 4308 B 7T (20208 U B 49418
91508 B 75) » EFA92(Z5,90088 8 7t (2020
B AE S 493186,1008 B 70) » EFIX
54.6% (202084 EBLEERE © 73.5%) o B EE
83 A B R R FE(L 518492, 7108 B 7T (2020
MBEE  §AGKRREMEFN0E B
70) © BI2020f BN EE L8 » AT FEE
BREBRNEIERRASHEERIENREY
BB EREN TR KM T B
EXRBENFRRRENEIER

FRESEEZEFE S E 0 WA 202004 BN EE
BY494,62088 BT IE N E &AM EEENL1E
1,20088 7B 7T » EF) H202084 BLE E #I51088
BTIENEELARBREEN110E BT E
SERBERSPEEEENSFBER 1T
BERAERGREEZEPEMTIEER  HE
BRI THE BHABRMER - S1FH
K s EEERHNEESE-




Annual Report 2021

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B R S T

Revenue of the Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies
business decreased from approximately HK$443.60 million in FYE 2020
to approximately HK$357.70 million in the Current Financial Year while
the gross profit decreased from approximately HK$354.80 million in
FYE 2020 to approximately HK$244.30 million in the Current Financial
Year. Tuoping (Valsartan capsules), a major product of the Group,
secured first place in the nation’s Third Round of Centralized Drug
Procurement with Target Quantity, with its sales revenue increased
from approximately HK$116.10 million in FYE 2020 to approximately
HK$174.30 million in the Current Financial Year. The revenue of
Aceglutamide, another major product for Cardio-Cerebrovascular
disorders, increased from approximately HK$49.90 million in FYE
2020 to approximately HK$70.40 million in the Current Financial Year.
However, the revenue of the higher-gross-margin Cerebroprotein
hydrolysate injection product decreased from approximately HK$140.00
million in FYE 2020 to approximately HK$37.40 million in the Current
Financial Year following its removal from the national medical insurance
catalog since early 2020. Revenue from sales of the pediatric anti-flu
and respiratory drugs, Ibuprofen suspension and suspension drops,
decreased from approximately HK$86.20 million in FYE 2020 to
approximately HK$41.90 million in the Current Financial Year due to the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic prevention measures.

In respect of Medical and healthcare services, with the opening of
the modern Chinese medical clinic chain “TDMall” in Zhuhai, Hong Kong
and Sydney from 2019 onwards, the revenue of “TDMall” increased from
approximately HK$1.70 million in FYE 2020 to approximately HK$4.70
million in the Current Financial Year while gross profit increased from
HK$1.10 million in FYE 2020 to HK$3.70 million in the Current Financial
Year. The Group will continue to roll out physical “TDMalls” steadily
and perfect “TDMall on Cloud” to realize the 020 model of Chinese
medicine clinics.
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In terms of innovation and R&D, the Group continued to
increase investment in R&D, strengthen innovation efforts, accelerate
technological advancement and optimize product structure. R&D
expenses increased significantly from approximately HK$1.50 million in
FYE 2020 to approximately HK$11.80 million in the Current Financial
Year.

Selling and distribution expenses decreased from approximately
HK$282.20 million in FYE 2020 to approximately HK$211.70 million
in the Current Financial Year, mainly due to the decrease in sales
of Cerebroprotein hydrolysate injection products and pediatric
anti-flu and respiratory drugs. Administrative expenses increased
from approximately HK$67.80 million in FYE 2020 to approximately
HK$69.80 million in the Current Financial Year, mainly due to the
increase in wages and salaries as the Group continued to expand its
team for the Chinese medicine business and Medical and healthcare
services. While striving for business growth, the Group has kept costs
and expenses under tight control.

For the Current Financial Year, the Group recorded other income
and net gains (excluding impairment of goodwill) of approximately
HK$7.50 million (FYE 2020: approximately HK$9.70 million). Of which,
interest income from bank deposits and structured deposits decreased
from approximately HK$8.70 million in FYE 2020 to approximately
HK$4.50 million in the Current Financial Year. The impact of the
decrease in interest income was partially offset by government
subsidies of approximately HK$3.20 million (FYE 2020: approximately
HK$0.4 million) in the Current Financial Year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s liquidity continued to stay in a healthy position. As
at 31 March 2021, the Group had structured deposits, short term bank
deposits and cash of approximately HK$235.00 million (31 March 2020:
HK$302.00 million), of which approximately 15.2% and 84.1% were
denominated in Hong Kong dollar and Renminbi (RMB) respectively
with the remaining in Australian dollar, Euro, Macau pataca and United
States dollar, as well as unutilised bank loan facilities of approximately
HK$93.70 million. With this strong financial position, the Group has
sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations and to finance its
operational and capital expenditures.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B R S T

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

The Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are substantially
denominated in Hong Kong dollar, RMB, United States dollar and
Australian dollar.

The Group has sales which use currencies other than its
functional currency RMB. As such, the Group has some exposures to
foreign currency risks. The management from time to time determines
suitable measures, such as entering into forward currency contracts, to
lessen exposure to exchange rate fluctuations in material transactions
denominated in currencies other than RMB. The Group did not enter into
any forward currency contracts to hedge its foreign currency risks as at
31 March 2021.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has pledged certain right-of-use
assets, property, plant and equipment and assets of a disposal group
held for sale with carrying value approximately HK$436.30 million (2020:
HK$272.80 million) in aggregate to secure a bank loan facility grant to
the Group.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2021, the Group employed approximately
650 employees in Hong Kong, the PRC and Australia. The Group
remunerates its employees based on market terms and the
qualifications and experience of the employees concerned.
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The Company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory
and regulatory standards and adhering to the principles of corporate
governance, emphasizing transparency and accountability to the
shareholders.

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the CG Code) in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(the Listing Rules) during the FYE2021 except as mentioned below.

Mr. Fang Wen Quan is the Chairman of the Board and the
Managing Director of the Company. Pursuant to code provision of A.2.1
of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer
of an issuer should be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out
in writing. Having considered the current business operation and the
size of the Group, the Board is of the view that Mr. Fang Wen Quan
has been the key leader of the Group, who has been primarily involved
in formulation of business strategies and determination of the overall
direction of the Group. He has also been chiefly responsible for the
Group’s operations as he directly supervises the management team of
the Group. Taking into account the continuation of the implementation
of the Group’s business plans, the Directors (including the Independent
Non-executive Directors) consider that Mr. Fang Wen Quan acting
as both the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director of the
Company is acceptable and in the best interest of the Group. The Board
has reviewed this situation periodically.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the businesses, strategic development, financial
performance and corporate governance of the Group. The management
is delegated with the powers and authorities for overseeing the
day-to-day operation of the Group.
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The Board currently consists of 8 Directors, comprising 2
Executive Directors, 3 Non-executive Directors and 3 Independent
Non-executive Directors (INEDs) namely:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. Lui Man Sang

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Shen Bo

Mr. Feng Quanming

Dr. Lam Lee G.

INEDs:

Mr. Lam Yat Fai

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa

The Board believes that the balance between Executive Directors
and Non-executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide
sufficient balances that protect the interest of the shareholders and the
Group.

INEDs and Non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 2
years and are subject to retirement in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

More than one of the INEDs has appropriate professional
qualification in accounting or related financial management expertise.
Save as disclosed in the biographical details of each Director, there
is no other relationship (including financial, business, family, or other
material/relevant relationship) among members of the Board.

The articles of association of the Company provide that one-third
of all the directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual
general meeting (AGM), and the INEDs are subject to this provision.
The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from
the three INEDs in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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The Board has established a formal schedule of matters
specifically reserves to the Board for its decision. The Board reviews
this schedule on a periodic basis to ensure that it remains appropriate to
the needs of the Board.

The Board has established procedures to enable directors,
upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances to enable them to discharge their duties at
the Company’s expenses. The articles of association of the Company
contain description of responsibility and operation procedures of the
Board. The Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
performance of the Group.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties including the following matters attended by the Board during the
FYE2021:

. develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations;

. review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

. review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

. develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

. review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report under
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

Directors’ training and professional development
Directors of the Company are continually updated with legal and

regulatory developments, and the business environment to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities.
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All Directors are also provided with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as
a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. Newly appointed Directors are provided with the necessary
induction and information to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well
as their responsibilities under the relevant statues, laws, rules and
regulations.

Based on the training records provided to the Company by the
Directors, all the Directors have participated in the trainings by reading
newspapers, journals and updates and/or attending seminars relating to
corporate governance, regulatory updates, economy, general business
or director’s duties and responsibilities, etc. during the FYE2021.

Directors’ meeting

During the FYE2021, the Board held 4 full board meetings. The
attendances of the Directors at the meetings are as follows:
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Number of Meetings

Attended/Held
Directors BEE HE BITEERY
Executive Directors: BiTES -
Mr. Fang Wen Quan BXERE 414

(Chairman and Managing Director) (BEFERREFHLE)

Mr. Lui Man Sang BXERE 414
Non-executive Directors: EHITES:
Mr. Shen Bo LR E 3/4
Mr. Feng Quanming HEREE 4/4
Dr. Lam Lee G. MEREEL 414
INEDs: BUERITES:
Mr. Lam Yat Fai wEERE 3/4
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERLE 414
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa HMERLE 4/4
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The Board has also established the audit committee, nomination
committee, remuneration committee and risk management committee
which comprises a majority of INEDs. Each of these committees has
its own terms of reference to set out its specific duties and authorities
and reports to the Board. For the terms of reference of each committee,
please visit the website of our Company www.tiandapharma.com.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was established
with specific written terms of reference. It comprises three INEDs of
the Company, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong, Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Mr. Chiu Fan
Wa and one Executive Director of the Company, Mr. Fang Wen Quan.
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong is the Chairman of the remuneration committee
during the year.

The remuneration committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on, among other things, the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration to all Directors
and senior management of the Company and is delegated by the
Board the responsibility to determine on behalf of the Board the
specific remuneration packages for all Executive Directors and senior
management of the Company.

The remuneration committee held 1 meeting during the FYE2021
to review and make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of Individual Executive Directors, the Non-executive Directors,
the INEDs and senior management; and to review the bonus to senior
management.

Details of individual attendance of its members during the
FYE2021 are as follows:
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Particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five highest
paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16
to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established nomination committee comprising
two INEDs, Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and one
Executive Director of the Company, Mr. Fang Wen Quan (who is the
chairman of the nomination committee).

The duties of the nomination committee are reviewing and
supervising the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
qualified individuals to become members of the Board, assessing the
independence of the INEDs and making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

During the FYE2021, the nomination committee held 1 meeting.
Details of individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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Mr. Fang Wen Quan (Chairman) FXERE (F/E)
Mr. Lam Yat Fai MBEERTE
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERKE

During the FYE2021, the nomination committee had reviewed
the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessed the
independence of the INEDs and made recommendation to the Board on
the re-election of retiring Directors.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has a board diversity policy aiming at setting out
the approach on diversity of the Board of the Company.

The Board recognises the importance of having a diverse board in
enhancing the Board effectiveness and corporate governance. A diverse
board will include and make good use of difference in the skills, industry
knowledge and experience, education, background and other qualities,
etc. of Directors and does not discriminate on the ground of race, age
gender or religious belief. These differences will be taken into account
in determining the optimum composition of the Board and when possible
should be balanced appropriately.

The nomination committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships with regards to their qualifications, skills,
experience and knowledge, assess the independence of INEDs, and
make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors in
particular the chairman and the chief executive officer.

The nomination committee is also responsible for reviewing and
reporting to the board diversity.

Appointments of directors will be based on merit and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

At present, the nomination committee has not set any measurable
objectives to implement the board diversity policy. However, it will
consider and review the board diversity policy and setting of any
measurable objectives from time to time.
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Nomination Policy

The Board has also adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and procedure of appointing
and re-appointing a Director. The selection criteria used in assessing
the suitability of a candidate include, inter alia, such candidate’s
academic background and professional qualifications, relevant
experience in the industry, character and integrity etc.

Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, the nomination committee
reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board periodically
and make recommendation on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy. When it is necessary
to fill a casual vacancy or appoint an additional director, the nomination
committee identifies or selects candidates as recommended to the
committee pursuant to the criteria set out in the Nomination Policy.
Based upon the recommendation of the nomination committee, the
Board deliberates and decides on the appointment. In addition, pursuant
to the articles of association of the Company, every director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation or re-election at least once every
three years and shall be eligible for re-election at each annual general
meeting. The nomination committee shall review the overall contribution
and service to the Company, expertise and professional qualifications
of the retiring directors, who offered himself/herself for re-election at the
annual general meeting, to determine whether such director continues
to meet the criteria as set out in the Nomination Policy.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises three INEDs of the Company,
being, Mr. Lam Yat Fai, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and Mr. Chiu Fan Wa
and one Non-executive Director, Mr. Shen Bo. Mr. Lam Yat Fai is the
chairman of the audit committee.

The role and function of the audit committee include the
followings:

. review of and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standard;

. review of the annual and interim financial statements prior
to their approval by the Board, and recommend application
of accounting policies and changes to the financial reporting
requirements; and

. review of the Company’s financial controls, internal controls
and risk management systems to ensure that management
has discharged its duty to have an effective internal control
system.

During the FYE2021, the audit committee held 2 meetings. Details
of individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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The work performed by the audit committee during the FYE2021
includes the followings:

. review the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2020 and for the six months ended 30 September
2020;

. consider and approve of the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor; and

. review the internal control and financial reporting matters of
the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Company has established risk management committee
comprising two INEDs, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong (chairman of risk
management committee) and Mr. Lam Yat Fai and one Executive
Director, Mr. Fang Wen Quan.

The role and function of the risk management committee include
the followings:

. enhance and strengthen the system of risk management
of the Group and provide comments and recommendations

thereon to the Board;

. identify the risks of the Group and provide recommendations
to the Board; and

. other matters authorised by the Board.

During the FYE2021, the risk management committee held 1
meeting. Details of individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. In
considering dividend payment, the Board will take into account factors
such as depending on results of operations, working capital, financial
position, future prospects, and capital requirements, as well as any
other factors which the directors of the Company may consider relevant
from time to time. The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time
to time and the Dividend Policy does not constitute any commitment or
obligation of the Company to declare dividends.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the Model Code) of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all
the Directors of the Company, they all confirm that they have complied
with the Model Code throughout the FYE2021.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees in relation to the audit and other services, including
reviewing interim results and taxation services for the year provided
by Messrs. Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants, the external
auditor of the Company, amounted to HK$1,445,000 and HK$417,350
respectively.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company acknowledge that it is their
responsibilities for preparing the financial statements. The Directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance with relevant regulations and
applicable accounting principles. The Directors of the Company are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt upon the Company'’s ability to continue
as a going concern. The statement of the auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 57 to 63.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems so as to ensure the
shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets are properly
safeguarded. The systems of risk management and internal control are
designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve corporate objectives
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement, loss or fraud.

The Company established an internal audit department to assess
its risk management and internal control systems, formulating an
impartial opinion on the systems, and reporting its findings to the Audit
Committee, the Chairman of the Board and the senior management
concerned on a regular basis as well as following up on all reports to
ensure that all issues have been satisfactorily resolved.

Risk Management Framework

1. Each business unit is responsible for identifying, assessing and
managing risks within its business, ensuring that appropriate
internal controls for effective risk management are implemented
— principal risks are identified and assessed in the yearly
business planning process with action plans to manage those
risks;

2. The management is responsible for overseeing the risk
management and internal control activities of the Group — regular
meetings with each business unit to ensure principals risk are
properly managed, and new or changing risks are identified;

3. The Board is responsible for reviewing and approving the
effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s risk management and
internal controls — review of the annual internal audit report and
consideration of the Audit Committee’s recommendation.

The risk management framework, coupled with our internal
controls, ensures that the risks associated with our different business
units are effectively controlled in line with the Group’s risk appetite.
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The risk management system of the Group is designed to
facilitate effective and efficient operations, to ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records, to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks and to
safeguard assets of the Group. The management is responsible for
the design, implementation and maintenance of internal controls, while
the Audit Committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the
Group’s systems of risk management and internal controls through the
assistance of the internal audit function.

There is no material internal control deficiency that may affect the
shareholders of the Company which has come to the attention of the
Audit Committee or the Board. The Directors are of the opinion that the
Company has complied with code provisions C.2.1 and C.2.2 on internal
controls as set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules.

During the FYE2021, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems through the audit
committee and the internal audit department of the Company. The
Board has also reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function, and their training programmes and budget.

The Board formed its own view on the effectiveness of the
systems based on the review of the internal audit report and the
recommendation of the Audit Committee.

In respect of the FYE2021, the Board considered the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group effective and
adequate. No significant areas of concern that may affect the financial,
operational, compliance controls, and risk management of the Group
have been identified. The Board also considered the resources,
qualification and experience, training programs and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions
adequate. Nevertheless, the Group would take further steps to
continually improve its risk management and internal control systems.
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DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is committed to a consistent practice of timely,
accurate and sufficiently detailed disclosure of material information
about the Group. The Company has adopted a Policy on Disclosure
of Inside Information which sets out the obligations, guidelines and
procedures for handling and dissemination of inside information. With
these guidelines and procedures, the Group has management controls
in place to ensure that potential inside information can be promptly
identified, assessed and escalated for the attention of the Board to
decide about the need for disclosure.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged and appointed Mr. Lo Tai On, a
representative from an external secretarial services provider, as the
company secretary of the Company. The primary contact person with
the company secretary of the Company is the Financial Controller of the
Company. Mr. Lo has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In order to bring the constitution of the Company to comply with
the requirement under the Listing Rules relating to the minimum level
of members’ support of the Company required to convene a general
meeting, a special resolution was passed at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 28 August 2020 to amend the articles of
association of the Company.

An updated memorandum of association and articles of
association of the Company was published on the websites of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange and the Company.
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SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION

The objective of shareholder communication is to provide our
shareholders with detailed information about the Company so that they
can exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner.

The Company employs a range of communication tools to ensure
its shareholders are kept well informed of key business imperatives.
These include general meetings, interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars. Procedure for voting by poll had been
read out at the general meetings. All votes of the shareholders were
taken by poll. The Company announced results of the poll in the manner
prescribed under the Listing Rules.

The 2020 AGM of the Company was held on 28 August 2020.
A notice convening the AGM contained in the circular dated 29 July
2020 was dispatched to the shareholders together with the 2020 annual
report. A separate resolution was proposed by the chairman of the
meeting in respect of each separate issue, including re-election of
Directors.

Mr. Fang Wen Quan, the Chairman, Mr. Lui Man Sang, the
Executive Director, Dr. Lam Lee G., the Non-executive Director and
three INEDs, namely Mr. Lam Yat Fai, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa attended the AGM to answer questions raised from
shareholders. Mr. Shen Bo and Mr. Feng Quanming, the Non-executive
Directors, were unable to attend the 2020 AGM due to their other
business commitment. No other general meeting was held during the
year.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group fully recognises the importance of employing a
professional, truthful and proactive attitude in promoting investor
relations. This underscores the Group’s persistence in maintaining
optimum allround communications with investors, allowing it to collect
information and valuable feedbacks from investors and announce its
business strategy and direction in due course. These efforts are critical
for the Group to improve its corporate governance and strengthen
investor confidence.

Ensuring high corporate transparency is a key emphasis in
the Group’s investor relations activities. During the FYE2021, the
Group promoted investor relations through different channels. Regular
meetings were held between the management and investors. Latest
information regarding the Group and its business is proactively
disclosed to investors so that the best investment decisions can be
made. Whenever announcements on annual results, interim results
and material transactions are made, the Group will capitalise such
opportunities to enhance communications with investors, explaining
to them the Group’s latest operational situations and direction of
development.

The Company also maintains a website at www.tiandapharma.com,
where updates on the Company’s business developments and operations,
financial information and news can always be found.

Shareholders and investors may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board in writing through Investor Relations &
Corporate Communications Department whose contact details are as
follows:
Address:  Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC Tower,
No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2541 6558
Email: ir@tianda.com
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board. The AGM
of the Company shall be held in each year at such place as may be
determined by the Board. All general meetings other than AGM shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting (the EGM). Set out below are
procedures by which shareholders may (1) convene the EGM; (2) put
forward enquires to the Board; and (3) put forward proposals at general
meetings. The procedures are subject to the Company’s articles of
association and applicable legislation and regulations.

(1)  Procedures for shareholders to convene the EGM

Any shareholder or shareholders holding at the date of the deposit
of the requisition in aggregate not less than 10 per cent of such of the
paid up capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

Such requisition must state the objects of the meeting and
must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the Company’s
principal office in Hong Kong at Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC
Tower, No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit
of such requisition proceed duly to convene the EGM, the requisitionists
themselves may convene the EGM in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Directors,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result
of the failure of the Directors to convene such a meeting shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

The notice period to be given to all the registered shareholders for
consideration of the proposal raised by the requisitionist(s) concerned at
the EGM varies according to the nature of the proposal as set out in the
Company'’s articles of association and the CG Code.
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(2) Procedures to put forward enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquire to the Board.
All enquiries shall be in writing with the detail contact information
of the requisitionists through the Company’s principal place of
business of Hong Kong at Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC
Tower, No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong or email to
direct_enquiries@tianda.com for the attention of the Board.

(3) Procedures to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions in the Company’s articles of association
or the Cayman Islands Companies Law for shareholders to put forward
new resolution at general meetings other than a proposal of a person
for election as director. Shareholders may follow the procedures set out
above to convene the EGM for any business specified in such written
requisition.

The procedures for shareholder of the Company to propose a
person for election as director is posted on the Company website at
www.tiandapharma.com.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the FYE 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are R&D, manufacture and sales
of pharmaceutical, biotechnology and healthcare products. The Group
also engages in R&D of Chinese medicine and manufacture and sales
of Chinese medicine products, and the provision of Chinese medical
services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2021 containing a fair review of the business during the year and
discussion of future business development of the Group and the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group is set out in the
sections headed “Report of the Chairman” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” from pages 13 to 15 and pages 16 to 23 respectively of
this Annual Report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet its
immediate and long-term business goals. During the year under review,
there were no material and significant dispute between the Group and
its employees, customers and suppliers.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the sustainable development of the
environment and our society. The Group has endeavoured to comply
with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and
adopted effective environmental practices to ensure our business
meet the required standards and ethics in respect of environmental
protection. Further discussions on the Group’s environmental policies
and the relationships with various stakeholders will be covered in a
separate “Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report”. The
ESG Report will be published in the due course.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Board and management are aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
businesses and operations of the Group.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to results
by segment for the FYE2021 is set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the FYE2021, the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for approximately 21.4% of the Group’s total revenue
while the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately
6.6% of the Group's total revenue. In addition, for the year ended
31 March 2021, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for
approximately 32.6% of the Group’s total purchases while the largest
supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 17.2% of the Group’s
total purchases.

During the FYE2021, to the knowledge of the Directors,
Tianda Group and Hongta Tobacco (Group) Limited indirectly
hold the respective of 60% and 40% equity interest in
HEKBEREMMAENFBEEMRAE (Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng
Printing Company Ltd.) (Cheng Cheng Printing) which is one of the five
major suppliers of the Group.
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Except for the above-disclosed, none of the Directors, associates
of Director or Shareholders of the Company (who to the knowledge
of the Directors owes more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any interest in the Company’s five major suppliers or five major
customers during the year.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income pages 64 to 65.

DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HKO0.26 cent (2020: HK0.13 cent) per share for the FYE2021, subject
to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming 2021 annual general
meeting (the AGM). The final dividend is expected to be paid on or
before Thursday, 23 September 2021 to the shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Friday, 10
September 2021.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 7 September 2021 to Friday, 10 September 2021 (both day
inclusive), whereby no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for the proposed final dividend, all completed forms of transfers
with the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged with the Company’s
Hong Kong Branch share registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited, Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 6 September 2021.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out page 168 of this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the FYE2021 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
FYE2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
set out on page 68 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company had retained profits
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie as computed
in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands of
approximately HK$100,460,977. Moreover, the share premium account
of the Company may be distributed, provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they
fall due in the ordinary course of business. As at 31 March 2021, the
Company’s share premium account amounted to HK$355,702,578.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the FYE2021 and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan

(Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. Lui Man Sang

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Shen Bo

Mr. Feng Quanming

Dr. Lam Lee G.

INEDs:

Mr. Lam Yat Fai

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa

In accordance with Article 99 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Shen Bo, Dr. Lam Lee G. and Mr. Lam Yat Fai shall
retire from their office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. Dr. Lam Lee G. will not stand for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting and Mr. Shen Bo and Mr. Lam
Yat Fai, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM.

INEDs and non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 2
years and are subject to retirement in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has entered into any service agreement
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
1 year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 March 2021, the interests of the Company’s Directors, chief
executives and their associates in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (SFO), were as
follows:

Annual Report 2021

EFERHBESH

BRESRAATTLAAT TR
R (BT RN TR AT 1 — £ Py F L
8102 AR o

EFNRGRAEMRG ZED

2021538318 » RFEF R E R
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Shares of the Company AT KRG
Number of
Name of Director Capacity shares held %
EENR 515 Frfsiein &8 Bt
Mr. Fang Wen Quan Held by controlled corporation 1,194,971,370 55.58
(Note)
B XERE REZFEFE (Ht52)

Note: All the above shares are beneficially owned by Tianda Group. Mr. Fang Wen
Quan has 100% equity interests in Tianda Group and, accordingly, is deemed
to have a corporate interest in the above shares owned by Tianda Group and
all the interests stated above represent long positions.
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At an annual general meeting held on 28 August 2020, the
Company approved the adoption of a new share option scheme (the
Scheme).

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to
recognise the future and/or past contributions of the participants (as
defined in the Scheme) to the Company, and to attract and retain such
important participants and/or to maintain a continuing relationship, with
participants who have contributed to the result, growth, success and
benefit of the Group, and in relation to administrative staff, to recruit and
retain experienced and talented individuals and/or to reward their past
contributions.

The Scheme is for a period of 10 years from the date of adoption
on 28 August 2020. The Directors may, at their discretion, make an
offer to any participant to take up options. An option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted by the grantee upon his or her signing the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the option and paying HK$1 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof.

The subscription price for shares of the Company under the
Scheme shall be no less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the offer date (which date must be a business
day); (ii) a price being the average of the closing prices of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the
offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company on the
offer date.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10 per cent of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval of the Scheme. An option may be
exercised during a period to be determined by the Directors in its
absolute discretion and in any event such period shall not be longer
than 10 years from the date upon which the option is granted.
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The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant under the Scheme in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1 per cent of the total number of
shares in issue of the Company. Any further grant of options in excess
of the 1 per cent limit shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in
a general meeting with such participant and his or her associates
abstaining from voting.

No Share Option has been granted since the adoption of the
Scheme on 28 August 2020.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, AGREEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, agreement or contract of significance to
which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save for the Scheme of the Company disclosed above, at no
time during the year was the Company, its holding company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate and none of the Directors
nor any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 had any rights
to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any
such rights during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company against all
liability incurred by him as such director in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his favour, or in
which he is acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and
costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 March 2021, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows
that the following shareholders had notified the Company of the relevant
interests in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:

FERR

2021438318 » RBFBHF REE K
ISR AN ABFAFEZ T ERRECM
i FIRRENEESATHEHEFER
NEBNHU LB EHTRAZ B ER

Number of
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares held %
BRRBE 515 FiEZRH#E B
Tianda Group Beneficial owner 1,194,971,370 55.58
(Note 1)
AREH EEEAA (HtaE1)
Mr. Fang Wen Quan Held by controlled corporation 1,194,971,370 55.58
(Note 1)
BXERE REZEES (HtzE1)
SIIC Medical Science and Beneficial owner 280,517,724 13.05
Technology (Group) (Note 2)
Limited (SMST)
EEEXRERR (EFE) BEDBEBA (HtaE2)
BRAR (L BB
Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Held by controlled corporation 280,517,724 13.05
Holding Co., Ltd. (SPHL) (Note 2)
LT ERBEEERMBERAT REZEEFH (Htst2)
(LBEE)
Shanghai Industrial Investment Held by controlled corporation 280,517,724 13.05
(Holdings) Co., Ltd. (SIIC) (Note 2)
EBEXE (EE) ARAH REZEFES (Htz£2)
(LEE®)
Hongta Tobacco (Group) Beneficial owner 207,616,264 9.66

Limited (Hongta)
AEEE (BE) AR
BEAHR

Notes:

k

BmBEBEA

(1) These 1,194,971,370 shares are beneficially owned by Tianda Group. Mr.
Fang Wen Quan has 100% equity interests in Tianda Group and, accordingly,
is deemed to have a corporate interest in the said 1,194,971,370 shares
owned by Tianda Group.

(2)  These 280,517,724 shares are beneficially owned by SMST. SMST
is beneficially owned as to 100% by SPHL and SIIC is the controlling
shareholder of SPHL. Accordingly, SIIC and SPHL are deemed to be
interested in the said 280,517,724 shares owned by SMST.

HiaE -

(1) TRFEINUINMIIOERMBARAEE TS
B AXBEERRAEEER 2ERIRE
Hit > WA BN RAREBFAERZ Lit
1,194,971, 370R G 15 B AT % ©

(2)  =ZF280,517 724 RV L BEREERESR ©
I EREEREA LERESEER ML
BEEALESBRENTERKRER ALt £E
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EFEHE

All the interests stated above represent long positions. As at 31
March 2021, no short position was recorded in the register kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of
any other interest representing 5% or more in the Company’s issued
share capital as at 31 March 2021.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the FYE2021, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Major and Connected Transactions

On 22 February 2019, Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Hong Kong)
Limited (“TPHK”"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
Tianda Group, the controlling shareholder of the Company, entered into
an agreement, pursuant to which, among other things, Tianda Group
grants a conditional disposal right (“Disposal Right”) to TPHK. Pursuant
to the Disposal Right, upon fulfilment of all of the triggering conditions,
TPHK shall inform Tianda Group to acquire, either by Tianda Group
itself or through its wholly-owned subsidiary, and Tianda Group shall,
without any discretion, acquire the entire equity interest in Zhuhai
Tianda Realty Ltd. (“Zhuhai Realty”) from TPHK at a consideration
of RMB125 million (equivalent to approximately HK$145 million) plus
the cash at bank of Zhuhai Realty as at the Closing Date, which the
consideration shall not be more than RMB145 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$168.2 million) in any event. The transactions were
approved by independent shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 7 May 2019. Details of the transactions are set out in
the Company’s circular dated 12 April 2019.
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

The above transactions constitute a major transaction for the
Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. Tianda Group, in
which its entire equity interests are owned by Mr. Fang Wen Quan,
the Chairman and Managing Director of the Company, is interested in
approximately 55.58% of the issued share capital of the Company. As
such, Tianda Group is a connected person of the Company and the
abovementioned transactions also constitute non-exempted connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the FYE2021, the Group conducted certain transactions
with connected persons which constituted “continuing connected
transactions” under the Listing Rules. Details of this continuing
connected transaction which is subject to the reporting requirements
under Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules are summarised as follows:

PURCHASES OF THE INSTRUCTION LEAFLETS, PACKAGING
BOXES AND RELATED PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

On 16 May 2018, a Framework Agreement was entered into
between the Company and Tianda Culture Holdings (China) Limited*
(“TCH (China)") for governing the transactions of purchasing printed
instruction leaflets, packaging boxes and related products and designing
services from TCH (China) and its subsidiaries by the Group for a term
of three years for commencing from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2021.

On 28 February 2020, the Company and TCH (China) entered
into a Supplemental Agreement to extent the contract period of the
Framework Agreement till 31 March 2022.

TCH (China) is a subsidiary of Tianda Group, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, so it is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Framework
Agreement, the Supplemental Agreement and the transactions
contemplated under these Framework Agreements constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the transactions are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 16 May 2018 and 28 February 2020,
respectively.

*  For identification purpose only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

The annual cap and the actual amount of the above continuing
connected transactions for the FYE2021 as shown as follows:
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LRFERERZIR2021MBREEZ
FELRAREBEREZBRIITAOT :

The actual
Business type The annual cap  transaction amount
EuESE FELR BERZZEH
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Purchasing printed instruction leaflets, REBENRIERAE - BEER

packaging boxes and related 8 R 2 e AR TS

products and services 18,000,000 6,447,918

PROVIDING PRODUCTS AND LOGISTICS SERVICES

On 26 March 2018, the Company entered into a Framework
Agreement with Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd.* (SPHL)
for a 3-year term commencing from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2021 and
it is expected that the Group and SPHL Group will from time to time
enter into transactions by providing products (including pharmaceutical
products, Chinese medicines and healthcare products) and logistics
services to each other during the ordinary and usual course of business.

As SPHL is a substantial shareholder of the Company, which
indirectly holds 13.05% interest in the issued share capital of the
Company. SPHL is therefore a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Framework
Agreement and the transactions contemplated under the Framework
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company. Details of the transactions are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 26 March 2018 and 31 January 2019,
respectively.

*  For identification purpose only
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The annual cap and the actual amount of the above continuing
connected transactions for the FYE2021 as shown as follows:

LRFERERZIR2021PBREEZ
FELRAEBERZBRIITAOT :

The actual
Business type The annual cap  transaction amount
EHER FELR BERZAEH
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Products and logistics services EEBERAERRHY
provided by SPHL Group to 7E o R W) B iR AR S
the Group 8,000,000 -
Products and logistics services AEE R LBBEREHRY
provided by the Group to SPHL Group B R B X BR 75 18,000,000 15,247,015
Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, INEDs have 1R % £ 5 R B 55 14A551% » B IL JEH

reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and confirmed
that:

1. these transactions were in the Group’s ordinary and usual
course of business;

2. these transactions were entered into on normal commercial
terms; and

3. these transactions were carried out in accordance
with respective agreement terms which were fair and
reasonable, and in the interests of the Company and the
shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor, Ernst & Young have provided a letter to
the Board confirming that the above continuing connected transactions:
1. have received the approval of the Board;

2. have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing the transactions; and

3. have not exceeded the cap disclosed in previous
announcement(s).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions undertaken
by the Group in its normal course of business are set out in note
33 to the consolidated financial statements. Those related party
transactions which constituted continuing connected transactions/
connected transactions under the Listing Rules which are set out in the
section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions” above and complied with Chapter 14A.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy regarding the employees of the Group is
based on their merit, qualifications and competence. The emoluments
of the Directors are reviewed by the remuneration committee, having
regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. No Director or any of his associates and
executive is involved in dealing his own remuneration.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules throughout the
FYE2021.
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AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (Deloitte) resigned as auditor of the
Company on 12 October 2017 and Ernst & Young was appointed as
auditor of the Company to fill the vacancy arising from the resignation
of Deloitte on 27 October 2017. Save as the disclosed above, there was
no change in auditor during the past 3 years.

The financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the FYE2021 have been audited by Ernst & Young who retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will
be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Ernst & Young as
auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

Fang Wen Quan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
GENVEE7 S e

e
EY:

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TIANDA PHARMACEUTICALS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to 167, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (‘HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
CEVE 7 e

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below,
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

B EE

ik R
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B EEARETEENFE -

HPIBBIT RS BT FAFRE
HBEREAEHEFEHFIRNEE &
EAERZSFEENST ALt > RMANE
SAEBERTAREGREMBERREANER
R EMRIER - B EFHER
BREEUTEENER  SHMAMEH
N EMBEREANEBFTRIEHER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAINBSHMAEIERREEIA

Impairment assessment of goodwill and other intangible assets

BERACHEEEEREFG

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had goodwill on acquisition of
subsidiaries and other intangible assets with carrying amounts of
HK$103.3 million and HK$27.8 million, respectively.

2021638310 > EEERAKBHEBEARREECEBLEE
&£ 872 IR & %8 99 5! #5103,300,0007% 7T 2 27,800,0007%

JT ©

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill and other intangible
assets included:

B EEREEELEEREZTETE
FEE .

(i)  engaging our internal valuation expert
to evaluate the valuation methodologies
adopted by management and the terminal
growth rates and discount rates applied;

() ZARFANABLEEXFLEEE
REZMERERERAZ KA RR
RITIRE ;
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRI BESHMAEIERREFEIR

Impairment assessment of goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

BERACHEEEEREFG (&)

The Group’s management performed impairment assessment of
goodwill and other intangible assets related to the cash-generating units
(“CGUs") by estimating the recoverable amount based on value-in-use
calculation. The value-in-use of the CGUs was determined by
management based on the operating cash flows forecast of the CGUs,
which required the use of key assumptions including the budgeted
revenue, budgeted gross margin and expected growth rate based on
management’s business plan on operation of the CGUs, the current
market circumstances and management’s expectation of the market
development, as well as suitable discount rates.
EEFEEEREEABEFABEATTRESEMBHEREEE
TEUBRNEEREEETLEEETHEN L -HEELE
INEREEREEERBREELEMNKERERERER
B HhEEFEANTIERROEENCEEEBHRESELE
AR EEBAIMNFERTRA - BEENMERERE B
ATBERANEEENTSEERNTEN  URBEENRRE -

Given the subjectivity of estimates and management judgement in
the impairment assessment and the material amounts involved, we
considered this area to be important to our audit.

#5051 B E 8 KRB FTE 8 T B IR FE BV & 2K A B LA PR
BRNEAEE  BMFALBRERMNEHIEREE -

The significant accounting judgements and estimates and the disclosure
of the balances of goodwill and other intangible assets are included in
notes 3, 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
FEGHYEREAUARBHENEEER EELRNKRESN
iR E M FSRARMIEES ~ 168117 ©

(if)

(if)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(iv)

enquiring of management in relation to the
key assumptions, and evaluating them by
benchmarking against historical results and/
or independent data;
TERERREHAETIERE > LiBANA
FEE R B BR LB LR R
R

evaluating the historical accuracy of the
financial budgets and the growth rates used
in the discounted cash flows by comparing
the historical budgets to actual results;
BBLEBRBERFEELRE » TE
MRRERENMHFRERIB T 2R
MRFIERAZIERE;

testing a selection of data inputs used in
the cash flow forecasts against supporting
evidence, such as historical financial
information, latest market information
and benchmarking companies’ financial
information; and
RIEXFHFHES > NBEMHER
ENMTmBERSNMEERATNGRFBEE
B AEHRERERRERI D
B@A &

assessing the adequacy of the disclosures
of impairment assessment in the
consolidated financial statements.

LR SR BRRPBERABETGEN
WREEEEN -
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included in
the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

FHABNVEEES

BAREFEEHHEFESAE HE
SRERTHREFHEANGER GREMBR
RRHEPIBZBETIR EFRIN) ©

RAHREMBREANERIEARE
HEFR  ZAfITFAHZFHEFERER
ERR AR ER SR o

EERMARGEMBRENES > &
PNEEEFEBEEERER  EIltBES
ZRHEEGRRERGREMBRERIEM
EESBREFRTHENBEREEEKRIESE
FEUFEFEEAHEBRRANBR - BN
BRAERITHIF  MREMAIBAEERE
BEAEAHBRL  HARTEREZF
Beo-zERE > HRAMLLEEMRS -

EFNGRSHMBRRARENTE

BEAREFAEERBEEBGSMA
SREMI(ERMBREER) KEEB(AF
HEEYRERERBREEMTEHAEHR
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BREFAFERNRGFRERMERNEAHE
RRAMFFERAEFEST -
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Annual Report 2021
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. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lam, Wai Ming, Ada.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

Hong Kong
25 June 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FeiEmAHEEEWmR

Year ended 31 March 2021 ZZ2021E3531 H IFE/E

2021 2020
Notes HK$ HK$
s AT BT
REVENUE KA 5 474,332,111 491,475,099
Cost of sales #H & AR A (215,344,576)  (130,461,240)
Gross profit EF 258,987,535 361,013,859
Other income, gains and losses, net HEWA ~ W R EEFEE 5 7,490,554 6,830,824
Selling and distribution expenses HE RDHHZH (211,732,7117)  (282,232,399)
Administrative expenses THEH (69,791,661)  (67,806,657)
Research and development expenses MEE sz (11,825,920) (1,503,925)
Finance costs [GLE= 07N 7 (569,351) (373,944)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX PRI AG (B538) iEF 6 (27,441,560 15,927,758
Income tax credit/(expense) FRigIES, (L) 10 1,523,754 (7,127,552)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR TEE (F5R) EF (25,917,806) 8,800,206
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) HE2HE WK%/ (A518)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that BRI EEN 7 5E
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in ABmZ BEZE K~
subsequent periods: (E518) -
Changes in fair value of equity investments BEAEAMEBESA
designated at fair value through other Hez2ak#z
comprehensive income REKEZ
RABEEES 5,463,369 (7,684,127)
Exchange differences on translation of the BREXQTHBERER
Company’s financial statements FREEZERELE 12,115,901 (9,347,577)
17,579,270  (17,031,704)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may R iEEHITEL &
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent ~— B IEHIEZZ
periods: HEEZE Kz (F18) -
Exchange differences on translation of HRENRBATMBRE
subsidiaries’ financial statements FREEZERERE 48,807,837 (40,606,598)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) ZFEEHEZ2EINE
FOR THE YEAR (F548) 66,387,107 (57,638,302)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)  ZSFE2EYEE,/
FOR THE YEAR (F548) 4288 40,469,301 (48,838,096)
continued / ...
B\
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEELRHESERER

Year ended 31 March 2021 ZZ20214E3531 H IFE/E

2021 2020
Notes HK$ HK$
FdaE BT BT
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: L AFE (B518) &F .
Owners of the parent ISYNSITEE] (27,142,070) 3,142,995
Non-controlling interests JEIERER 1,224,264 5,657,211
(25,917,806) 8,800,206
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FE{EZ2E
attributable to: Wz, (B548) 48%8 !
Owners of the parent BREIRE 36,727,015 (52,060,984)
Non-controlling interests JEIERER 3,742,286 3,222,888
40,469,301 (48,838,096)
HK cent HK cent
Al WL
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREBEDIEEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY FE1sE i (B548) BH
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Basic and diluted BEXRi#E 13 (1.26) 0.15
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EEEIRR

At 31 March 2021 2021435 31H

2021 2020
Notes HK$ HK$
Bt 5 BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME -~ BEKRKE 14 324,350,054 169,904,578
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15(a) 53,428,596 40,689,342
Goodwill e 16 103,269,153 95,014,628
Other intangible assets HeEgFEE 17 27,784,868 30,506,557
Deposits Be 21 11,345,519 1,882,893
Equity investments designated at fair value BEARAREE
through other comprehensive income SFAREZEREZ
RAKE 18 6,872,385 1,306,520
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 527,050,575 339,304,518
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Inventories 75 19 64,392,952 48,374,124
Trade and bills receivables FEE AT AR R Rz B LU 2= 4% 20 145,208,965 91,365,463
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables ~ FE{dFRIE
BERHE TR 21 14,049,661 14,053,622
Structured deposits EEEER 22 - 3,904,728
Cash and cash equivalents HERREEEEE 23 234,984,677 302,018,369
458,636,255 459,716,306
Assets of a disposal group classified DEAFELREZ
as held for sale HEHZEE 11 147,774,161 134,101,692
Total current assets MENBEERE 606,410,416 593,817,998
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE
Trade payables FE 1 BR =X 24 87,911,627 28,797,036
Other payables and accruals HeBARRESER 25 81,127,855 90,710,463
Interest-bearing bank borrowings s RIBITEM 26 18,894,201 607,735
Lease liabilties Eafs 15(b) 4,177,767 4,331,556
Due to a fellow subsidiary FEN—ERARMBABTRIE  33(b) 3,628,289 589,478
Tax payable FE{IFR1E 3,731,131 6,369,883
199,470,870 131,406,151
Liabilities directly associated with the assets BREARBEHEZ
classified as held for sale BEEHIEZEEMZEBE 11 14,763,580 13,592,266
Total current liabilities mENEEEEE 214,234,450 144,998,417
NET CURRENT ASSETS TENE ERE 392,175,966 448,819,581
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT mEERRBHAR
LIABILITIES 919,226,541 788,124,099
continued / ...
=
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ErETIRR

At 31 Mareh 2021 ¢ 20214E 35 31H

2021 2020
Notes HK$ HK$
B sE BT BT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JERENERE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHEIRITER 26 110,804,078 19,609,029
Lease liabilities HEAaRE 15(b) 11,653,956 685,188
Deferred income IRIEU A 303,734 388,878
Deferred tax liabilities RIEIRIBEAE 27 5,970,009 7,678,216
Total non-current liabilities ERHEELEEE 128,731,777 28,361,311
NET ASSETS BEEE 790,494,764 759,762,788
EQUITY Wz
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BAGIGRELER
Share capital [N 28 215,004,188 215,004,188
Reserves H#E 29 541,704,328 507,772,367
756,708,516 722,776,555
Non-controlling interests JEER ¥R 33,786,248 36,986,233
TOTAL EQUITY fEs4aza 790,494,764 759,762,788
Fang Wen Quan Lui Man Sang
F5 3 HE axX4*E
Chairman Executive Director
EER HITER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year enaed 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATRRES
Capital Capital Far  Exchange Non-
Share Share  redemption  conribution Special ~ Statutory value  fluctuation ~ Refained controlling Total
captal - premium TSeIVe T8SeIVe Teserve Teserve Teserve Teserve profits Totdl  interests equity
- g% f Ef
ks RWEE REHE GREE GUEE  LERE  BERE  RBME  GREEM BE HERER  gRKE
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HS HS HKS HKS HKS HKS
A A A A A A An #n #n A i AT
ALt Aprl 2019 RuteEAA 25004188 355,702,578 61400 B9 3460016 0Te504 (263147 (4462309 205076 TS BTEIUS 81096590
Proft forthe year KEERT) - - - - - - - N T TN TV Y [N Y
Otercomprehnsive s for teyear: ~ AEEHE2EFE:
Changes in air vl o equiy REARDAREHA
invstmens designated a e value He2ElE?
Hiough ohercomprefensive income hiREZ
MBESE - - - R - T T
Exchenge difeences on ransleionof -~ A EMRRAREL
fanc stenets 7EREE - - - - - s WSS M (ST
Tollcompreiensveloss for the year FEEREFRAE - - - - (TOBA1)  [@TS088) S0 (A0GD0B) 3220088 (46B%096)
Utisaton of reserve fEREE - - - (38453 - - 348 - - -
Final 2019 dividends declered BERNERERE - N B - - - (23504 (2365049) - (23504
At 31 March 2020 and 1 Aprl 2020 RONEEYRR
ANE4RR 5004188 355,700,578 1400 BSONT  BAG00M6T  N0T4GEST (103560 (7216 20134288 TAATIGSES 360623 739762788
Lossfor ey KEEEE - - - - - ; ) STy @M 1 (B
Othr comprehensie noome or e e~ AEEET2ENE
Changes in air vl o equiy EEARDAREHA
investments desinated at i vale He2EhazRERE
Hhrough ohercomprehensive ncome IRAEEES - - - R K - -G8 -
Eichange dferences on ranslaonof R EBIRERAEL 2
financil statements ERZE - - - - - BT - R 202 609878
Tola comprehensie income for e year —~ AEE2ENGLE - - - - SARNO SRASTIO (0T BIEOG 3T 4049t
Transtr o esenve BETHEE - - - - %0 - - (1B - - -
Final 2020 dividends declered BERINERERE - - - - - - (AT908) (279505 - T8
Diddend peid onon-conklingneress B ERERZRE - - - - - - - - byam) s
At 3 Warch 2021 RaERYA 15004188 365,700,578 G400 BOEONOT BAG00M6  0eATOT (4SSN (RRTG6AS) G125 TSGT0BSIG  33TEG2B  T0A%4TE
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * LHEREROSGEMBRRARANESH

HK$541,704,328 (2020: HK$507,772,367) in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

RAAREARAE

1#541,704,32878 7T (20204 : 507,772,367 7T) ©




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEBIERER

Year enaed 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

Annual Report 2021

2021 2020
Notes HK$ HK$
[ BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES &E ;ZEFrFIRERE
(Loss)/profit before tax PR AT (B518) EF (27,441,560) 15,927,758
Adjustments for: RYIREELZ AR !
Finance costs BN 7 569,351 373,944
Interest income FEWA 5 (3,234,319) (5,292,467)
Loss on disposal/write-off of property, plant HE MHYNE BE
and equipment KRBz B8 5 74,027 72,295
Gain on termination of leases HEZ&IEZ KRG 5 (51,906) -
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of financial ~ £ RE E 2~ (B ERE)
assets, net BB FEE 6 (28,930) 138,016
Fair value losses/(gains), net: RAEEEE () > 8!
Derivative instruments - transactions not TEIE-FFE
qualifying as hedges HABERZRS 5 85,782 -
Structured deposits EREER 5 (1,260,982) (3,444,666)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BEKRREINE 6 8,971,827 9,030,568
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREERE 6 5,756,557 6,047,220
Amortisation of other intangible assets HeRLEE#H 6 5,889,481 4,442,168
Recognition of government grants TSR BT+ BN (114,402) (112,200)
Impairment of goodwill BmERE 5 = 2,881,666
(10,785,074) 30,064,302
Increase in inventories FEEm (11,386,006) (2,936,697)
Increase in trade and bills receivables P s B R R FE M ZE AR 0 (45,100,825) (19,618,978)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other BAORE - RER
receivables HE R (7,966,715) (6,439,942)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables FEfTRRTRIE N, GRL ) 55,159,715 (1,032,111)
Decrease in other payables and accruals HeBARRESERRLD (16,328,791) (12,264,574)
Increase/(decrease) in an amount due to a E—FERRMEABNRE
fellow subsidiary M,/ () 2,008,901 (58,967)
Cash used in operations KEmARE (33,498,705) (12,286,967)
PRC taxes paid B PERIE (3,566,765) (7,241,394)
Interest paid ERFIE (569,351) (373,944)
Net cash flows used in operating activities REEHFRAZRERE T (37,634,821) (19,902,305)
continued / ...
B/ .
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HEBERER

Year ended 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

2021 2020
Notes HK$ HK$
i AT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHFRSRERE
Interest received BUF B 3,234,319 5,292,467
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEME -BEK
plant and equipment REEEZFERIE 3,387 2,608
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEYE BERRE (145,683,203) (93,938,854)
Additions to other intangible assets REHEEVEE (765,795) (8,407,138)
Additions to equity investments designated at fair  FRBEIEE AR A RBETA
value through other comprehensive income He2AWREZREKRE (102,496) -
Proceeds from maturity of derivative instruments 74 T B ZIHAFr 1§ TRIE 37,262,060 -
Investments in derivative instruments RITETAZKRE (37,058,013) -
Proceeds from structured deposits REEBEERZFRERIE 231,787,599 608,691,999
Investments in structured deposits REBUERZERE (226,410,393)  (552,705,958)
Net cash flows used in investing activities REEHAMBEZRENETHE (137,732,535) (41,064,876)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ~ R EBIFRSIREHE
Dividends paid EBE (2,527,560) (2,134,823)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BUIEEREEZRE (6,942,271) (14,505,712)
New bank loans WERITER 110,607,339 20,901,531
Repayment of bank loans BEIRITEM (5,720,110 -
Repayment of lease liabiliies BEREaE (4,664,232) (5,073,113)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities ~ RS & EZEFR1S, (FrA) 2
RERSFE 90,753,166 (812,117)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH REeRREEERBALVFE
EQUIVALENTS (84,614190)  (61,79,298)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ~ MENZREKRREEEHIER 311,962,660 393,168,421
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net SNEEXES 22 (F5R) 20,898,971 (19,426,463)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RELZAERAEFHEER
AT END OF YEAR 248,247,441 311,962,660
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERRESEHEBHERZ AN
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the REMBRRRIEZ
statement of financial position HekBFEE&EEER 23 234,984,677 302,018,369
Cash and short term deposits attributable to a HEANEEZRER
disposal group RHIEM 11 13,262,764 9,944,291
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RRERERIEZ
statement of cash flows ReERREEEER 248,247,441 311,962,660
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Year enaed 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office address of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) were involved in the research and development,
manufacture and sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology and
healthcare products and wholesale of Chinese herbal medicines,
traditional Chinese medicine decoction pieces, Chinese medicines
and the provision of Chinese medical services.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company and the ultimate holding company of the Company is
Tianda Group Limited, a private limited company incorporated in
Hong Kong.

REIREEER

AREEFRAR (‘KAT) &
RHEEHEFMMIZERRAE > H
BRIHREBHERZFABRAE (‘B
XA £ o "AT Z MR E R
#2 Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands °

FER o FRBKREMBAR (‘4
EE)RFBE LYK KRFREE
mZ s EEKRHEE > PEM G
BN R R PR U R R P B AR
%% o

EFRR > FABNEERERA
BIRRBERABARAKEBRBRA
8 (REBEMAILEIMABRARE) o

Information about subsidiaries ERMBARZER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARBFEMBABTIZEM
follows: T
Place of Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable Principal
Name and business share capital to the Company activities
SR, LiEk/ TATEL
28 SRR AR E R AMEx EEaat IEEH
Direct Indirect
E# i
Yunnan Meng Sheng People’s Republic RMB36,000,000 - 55 Research and
Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd.* of China (‘PRC’)/ A K #36,000,0007T development, manufacture
ERBREEXARAA" Mainland China and sale of
i N R pharmaceutical and
(‘HRE") /PEIARE biotechnology products

BEREMHEER
W5 R -
TERKE
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

ATIREBREH @
ERAMBATIZER @)

Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable Principal
Name and business share capital to the Company activities
BT
s LiEk/ TAF L
BiE RS E A HfER maat TEEH
Direct Indirect
Ef it
Yunyu Bio-Pharmaceutical British Virgin US$1 100 - Investment holding
Co., Limited Islands (BVI")/ (ES REZTR
Mainland China
HRERETRES
/HREARE
Tianda Pharmaceuticals PRC/ Mainland RMB93,000,000 - 100 Research and development,
(Zhuhai) Limited* China A EK%93,000,0007T manufacture and sale
RAEE (BB BRAT" HEPEARE of pharmaceutical and
biotechnology products
BEREMBRER
ZHRR S B
LERHEE
Tianda Pharmaceuticals Australia AUD1,000,000 - 100 Marketing, sale and
(Australia) Pty Limited BAF R 1,000,000 7T distribution of healthcare
RAEE (RAFE) BRAT products
REERZITH
HERDH
Tianda Pharmaceuticals PRC/ Mainland HK$50,000,000 - 100  Research and development
(China) Limited* China 50,000,000 7t of pharmaceutical products
RAEE (PE) BRAF HE PR ARE and provision of intra-

group consultation services
and marketing, sale and
distribution of healthcare
products
BEELZMAR
M RUEEANDE
AR U KRR E
EmZiTH
HERDH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. REREEEH @
Information about subsidiaries (continued) ERMBARZER (@
Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable Principal
Name and business share capital to the Company activities
BET
M Lk TAFREL
21 RS E A B AL TEER
Direct Indirect
EiE ifE
Zhuhai Tianda Realty Limited* PRC/ Mainland RMB67,000,000 - 100 Property holding
KBXRAEXERAT" China A E#67,000,0007T MERERR
HE PEARE
Tianda Chinese Medicine PRC/ Mainland RMB30,000,000/ - 100 Wholesale of Chinese herbal
(China) Ltd.* China A F#30,000,0007T medicines, traditional
RAHRBE (FE) BRAR  FE/HEKXE RMB50,000,000 Chinese medicine decoction
A E%50,000,0007T pieces and Chinese
medicines
REM - REHRA R
RERH B
Zhuhai Tianda Processed PRC/ Mainland RMB8,000,000/ - 100 Production and sale of
Chinese Herbal Medicine Ltd.* China A E¥8,000,0007,/ traditional Chinese medicine
KERARERRBRAT" HE PEARE RMB10,000,000 decoction pieces and trading
A E#10,000,0007T of agricultural by-products
RERREER
SHE MUK
REIERNEE
* Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law * BEFEZEREMZIIEBELE

# Incorporated as a cooperative enterprise

A limited liability company established under PRC law

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

MRS SERE

REBREERBINBERAR

ERINHEERANEFELRE
BEXFATECENERTETEE
FEETEEHNNERTWBLF - &

BARHEEHBARZENTIHE
TRIEBBRITR -
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 21 REEE

74 EEEEEEEPE

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(*HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income,
certain bills receivable and structured deposits which have been
measured at fair value. The disposal group held for sale is stated
at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell
as further explained in note 2.4 to the financial statements. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$").

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 March 2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

ZEMBHRERDRIEE B G
NERHZERMBREER (B
EMERMBRSER - FEGHE
AlR2E) REBAREHEARE
BATRBINKBERERRK - ZFH
BHRREBELMAE RN » EEE
ABEARBEFARCEZENREZRK
TRE - ETERZEBEREBEER
BRARBESE -FFHEZHER
MRHEREEERABEREENRE
ZBIRE TR (U0 B 5 3R R M 5E2.4F
E—THA) - AFMBREI]UET
(BIT) 25 °

ISEEE

REMBERROELQTREK
BATEHE2021E3831B L EEZ B
BHRK -MWBRABEASATNEREIM
BEHZER (BREEEEER) - 8
SEBHSHERERREFNZHMO
ARG ZEEFUKREEBRY
REHRZED BIEAEBER TR
BRENDUTEREHRABRESH ZEE
EFiER) R EZEORE - BNESES
;ﬁg °
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Year enaed 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate,
on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

21

REEE )

SFEEE®m

HMARBEESBEEEEF DR
KREHZRALHIRERFEMUEFNE
o AEERRTHERTHEHRE
BEHRZENREER—UEMASEE
KRIER > 8

(a) EREHFHEEREFBEAZE
WxHE;

b)) HEANZHMEEZEN &

() TEBZRERKREBEERE#-
B A B RERDIREER
IR R SR R — R EER
ﬁ%ﬁ& MBABZEXRELAEH
SEFEEAEGSAR EEZ
EEM@%E%EO

BahkEe2mEZ ZEMEP
PEBREAEBEZRTRERKRIEZER
T o BMEIE 2R 5| B IE AR HE R 45 iR
HIREGELM - FTEAERAARBZE
EREE EHE WA BAZTUKRH
TEBRBE AT ZERZEMZAE
MEMRGSIREREEENE -

HEBRBELERLXHEAR
BT BERFTE Z TR G E R —IR
ZEyIEH:'iE 2F) > AEBEEHTE

REDAENIREHR o [HICH B
’&75’]%%7@*&*“%31&9&%?’”%']
o AEEERZ AR
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BE (BEBE) KRR ; ()EMAIFE
Rt s 2 BRIEIME 5 Fe(iil) i i 2 PO °C £
ZRFERE > WHED)EWRRE
ZAREE; (FMREEAREZA
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

Year ended 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES 2.2 E:HHBERIEEEE

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for FEERFTFEZREGMBR
Financial Reporting 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) and the RERIRR2018F I BB ESIER
following revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s (‘BRHER) R TIEIETERME
consolidated financial statements. REZER o
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business ERMBREENBE EHIEE

A H|
Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform ERMHREERFSE . FEFEENE
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 ER G EAFRK
ERRHRE LR
EL A
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent ERMBREER 198K EER
Concessions (early adopted) Al ACH Rz E%
(FEFTHA)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material BRGHENBIRK BYHZEE
and HKAS 8 BRGERFSRZ1E5]

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework S ERREIE T B RMBRS
and revised HKFRSs are described below: EZRNMEMTEUWT :

(a)  The Conceptual Framework sets out a comprehensive (a) BIREZRHI —ETER
set of concepts for financial reporting and standard BREMSIRERRE
setting, and provides guidance for preparers of I H ST B M — R g st
financial statements in developing consistent BERNMBRERERER
accounting policies and assistance to all parties MIESI ARG R T #
to understand and interpret the standards. The RERED - HESIERE
Conceptual Framework includes new chapters on B ERBEMHREN
measurement and reporting financial performance, MEH BEREERLL
new guidance on the derecognition of assets and HRRHMIES s U R&H
liabilities, and updated definitions and recognition BEERBRATEREDE
criteria for assets and liabilities. It also clarifies the Al-HIF@AEE - EH
roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement K st 8 A E MR MR
uncertainty in financial reporting. The Conceptual SZERA - R ERLIF
Framework is not a standard, and none of the ZER) > B H &t B8 SR
concepts contained therein override the concepts AEREAENRHBES
or requirements in any standard. The Conceptual WHRE - BMBERHAE
Framework did not have any significant impact on the ) B9 BF B3R O B R R G
financial position and performance of the Group. EREREAZE -
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Year enaed 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide
additional guidance on the definition of a business.
The amendments clarify that for an integrated
set of activities and assets to be considered
a business, it must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create output.
A business can exist without including all of the
inputs and processes needed to create outputs. The
amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of acquiring the
business and continue to produce outputs. Instead,
the focus is on whether acquired inputs and
acquired substantive processes together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of
outputs to focus on goods or services provided to
customers, investment income or other income from
ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an acquired
process is substantive and introduce an optional
fair value concentration test to permit a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is not a business. The Group has applied
the amendments prospectively to transactions or
other events that occurred on or after 1 April 2020.
The amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.

2.2

B BERRINEEE @

(b)

ERMBHRSER BN
ZIESTBBEBZES
A HE AL EESMNES] - B R
EHEILCDECFE £ iy
HESEHNEE KA
ELEE-—BERAN—E
EiBE > MmELEASR
EREHZENBEART
M-EBBRAEETNE
HAEZMARARB
12 o RAESTBUE T ™
B2RERTAENERE
EBUEFBEERSELZ
RE > BRAERA IR
BZBRANMEEZBIZHEA
HERELZENESE
REM - ZEFTTREWE
EHZERLE > EHH
ARBERRERMEZE MR
B oREWRAXBEES
EEZHEWRA °IL5h >
ZFIET TR M AT
FRENIBIE R B E AR
fBal LA AREEE
PERAREE ASFHAAR
WEN—HEBHNEER
BARBREFETHET
fheoAEBEHABEREE
H2020F4B1 B EBEE
ZRGHAEECERERAZ
FEFT -ZFEITLEY
FEBBMBRIRERER
ERERTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

Year ended 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

2.2 CHANGES

(continued)

(c)

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS
7 address issues affecting financial reporting in
the period before the replacement of an existing
interest rate benchmark with an alternative risk-free
rate ("RFR”). The amendments provide temporary
reliefs which enable hedge accounting to continue
during the period of uncertainty before introduction
of the alternative RFR. In addition, the amendments
require companies to provide additional information
to investors about their hedging relationships which
are directly affected by these uncertainties. The
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group as the Group
does not have any interest rate hedging relationships.

2.2

B BERRNESEE @

(c)

BRM RS ERHE
BERGFTERIBIRRER
RS ER BT ZE5]
TERREUSZ—BERR
MR (ERERENE) AR
BN EREER AR
WEZRE BAREIIR
YRR IS > RIS I
5 —EERMNEFE
7 W R 14 B BA F) AE A 4 fE
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EREIERATMKREAE
ERMEMEREZZER
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Year enaed 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

(d)

Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical
expedient for lessees to elect not to apply lease
modification accounting for rent concessions
arising as a direct consequence of the covid-19
pandemic. The practical expedient applies only to
rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence
of the pandemic and only if (i) the change in lease
payments results in revised consideration for the
lease that is substantially the same as, or less than,
the consideration for the lease immediately preceding
the change; (ii) any reduction in lease payments
affects only payments originally due on or before 30
June 2021; and (iii) there is no substantive change
to other terms and conditions of the lease. The
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 June 2020 with earlier application
permitted and shall be applied retrospectively. The
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group as the Group
does not have any rent concessions.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a
new definition of material. The new definition states
that information is material if omitting, misstating
or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. The amendments
clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or
magnitude of information, or both. The amendments
did not have any significant impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

2.2

B BERRINEEE @

(d)

ERMBREENFE16RZ
CHP-Y$:UN2 S )
THEZ EEARE
EHRR20198RESRER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

Year ended 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

23 ISSUED BUT NOT

YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS
16

Amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
Amendments to

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12
Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual Framework®

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2!

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 20212

Insurance Contracts*

Insurance Contracts*”

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current*®

Disclosure of Accounting Policies*

Definition of Accounting Estimates*

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction*

Property, Plant and Equipment; Proceeds
before Intended Use®

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract®

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
Illustrative Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 413

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

5 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

8 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

7 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual
periods beginning before 1 January 2023
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Year enaed 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a
reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in June
2018 without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition
principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to
determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would
be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they
were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS
37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual
Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent
assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date.
The Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively
from 1 April 2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively
to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or
after the date of first application, the Group will not be affected by
these amendments on the date of transition.
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2.3
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS
4 and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the previous
amendments which affect financial reporting when an existing
interest rate benchmark is replaced with an alternative RFR. The
Phase 2 amendments provide a practical expedient to allow the
effective interest rate to be updated without adjusting the carrying
amount when accounting for changes in the basis for determining
the contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities, if the
change is a direct consequence of the interest rate benchmark
reform and the new basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis immediately
preceding the change. In addition, the amendments permit
changes required by the interest rate benchmark reform to be
made to hedge designations and hedge documentation without
the hedging relationship being discontinued. Any gains or losses
that could arise on transition are dealt with through the normal
requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise hedge
ineffectiveness. The amendments also provide a temporary
relief to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable
requirement when an RFR is designated as a risk component.
The relief allows an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to
assume that the separately identifiable requirement is met,
provided the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component
to become separately identifiable within the next 24 months.
Furthermore, the amendments require an entity to disclose
additional information to enable users of financial statements to
understand the effect of interest rate benchmark reform on an
entity’s financial instruments and risk management strategy. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2021 and shall be applied retrospectively, but entities
are not required to restate the comparative information. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments
specify that if an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability
is subject to the entity complying with specified conditions, the
entity has a right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of
the reporting period if it complies with those conditions at that
date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that
the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability.
The amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a
settlement of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the
recognition exemption in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12
(recognition exemption) so that it no longer applies to transactions
that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. The amendments are effective
for annual report periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023,
with early application permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such items,
and the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only to items of
property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after
the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial
statements in which the entity first applies the amendments.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g.,
direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of the
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment
used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract management
and supervision costs). General and administrative costs do not
relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022 and shall be applied to contracts for which an
entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which it first applies the amendments.
Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment
to the opening equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

23

ClEMERKRERZEEMER
= 3: [ NE))

ERBESERBIRZEITE
B IRIEE B G st R FBTRTE
BHEEEEBIEEMS » BIT64080
RABERGHERBERNRE - 2
BHNEEZERNRETEERITZEN
RIgE A (BIUNERES TRME) K&
BETENEEZEEANEEMEDE
(BINDERBITEXFIAME  BER
REBEBFEENFTEEBRAUKRGHEER
BEMA) - —MRITEMAFRGHIL
BEHEZERE  RIFRBESOAEE Y
FHWE > BAREEER - ZFE
022 F1A1EB 2 BABNEE
HAMERN > EREAREERNRAEER
FERAZEEITNEERSHBMRE
AETEFRABSENGH - AFFRE
FER - 1T EAZFEITNEMRS
FERERAHBERERABZHT
AR MBASEIILLRER -
ZEETRRTIEHREENTHR
REMEMERZE -




Annual Report 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

arETRRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group are
as follows:

. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees
that an entity includes when assessing whether
the terms of a new or modified financial liability are
substantially different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only those paid
or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower
or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies the
amendment to financial liabilities that are modified
or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which the entity first applies the
amendment. The amendment is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendment is not
expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

. HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of
payments from the lessor relating to leasehold
improvements in Illustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives
when applying HKFRS 16.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEE®HBEHME ®

(continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its certain bills receivable, structured
deposits and equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHBEHNE ®
(continued)
Fair value measurement (continued) AREEHE @

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:
Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly
Level 3- based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
financial assets, and non-current assets/a disposal group
classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value-in-use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(1)

)

(iii

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(1)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets and
disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 3% to 10%
Leasehold improvements 10% to 33.3% or over the lease
terms, whichever rate is higher

Plant and machinery 5% to 10%
Furniture, fixtures and 10% to 20%
equipment

Motor vehicles 10% to 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed
funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress
is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must be
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only
to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such assets
or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable. All assets
and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are
reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the
sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
investment properties and financial assets) classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and
fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated
or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life
are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful
life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Licences and permits

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 10 to 13 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products
not exceeding ten years, commencing from the date when the
products are put into commercial production.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEE®HBEHME ®

(continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to
use the underlying assets.

(a)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities and are
separately disclosed on the consolidated statement of financial
position. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land Over the lease terms
Clinics, offices and warehouses Over the lease terms

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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(continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(b)  Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date,
the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is
a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from
a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an
option to purchase the underlying asset.

(c)  Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FESHEEHE @
(continued)
Investments and other financial assets Fﬁ&ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬂﬁé
Initial recognition and measurement BXEA R E

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
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component are measured at the transaction price determined MREBMBREENFISREEZ
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for RHEIEETE °
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured AEETMEERBHERAIER

at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash
flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continuec)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest rate (‘EIR”) method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in
profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in
other comprehensive income is recycled to profit or loss.
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(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as
a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case
such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income are not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. This
category includes bills receivable, derivative instruments and
equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

RERHEEMEE @

Hig:tE @)
EEBRASNEEFARE L EH K
ZEHEE (RERE)

RERFESDER > RERERZR
REKRENEGER G ER B2
LR ZEFETZRAEZAILIF
RFEER > RERKRSKREATHE
OB AEERAABEFARER
EWmZRAKRE - AT RER T
BEEEE -

ZEETMEEZWHREERER
EWERERER - EXX(IHEREIL -
HREAMZEENDEIERALRE
B RS SHEEMIESER > RE
REmXPEEIBHCKA  EEE
EERFRAKREEMEE DM
RZFRIGREREREFAIRRS > XUt
FER > ZFRENEEZEREA
fR-FBERAABESAHEZEAK
HZBRAERERRBENLTE -

BAABEAARDZ ZHEE

RARBEFABOZEMEE
IR R KRR A AEETIER > T
AREEEEFFRA B o %
BHEERKER TEIAKREE
EERAREHIEREDESRARE
B AHEZEBRDZREKRE © [
REMRIES I > MiRSHEREE
MERAUEROAER > BREEH
FERISEFTE > RIDBARAAEES
ABmZzRAKRBEZRETENi8m®
ERXABHEHEWA -

BN 99



Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MTSRERMRE

Year ended 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

10 ESEEEEERSE

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent
of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEE®HBEHME ®
(continued)
Impairment of financial assets EMEEZRME

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
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sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are hﬁ?&#ﬁnujﬂ EERERZIRER
integral to the contractual terms. » IETS & &1 AT_JIH?%ZE.‘IZQ °
General approach —Re5E

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 60 to 180 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be
in default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed

below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount

equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount

equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has assessed the credit risk exposure that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking

factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

24 FEFHHEHRE @

SR E 2 HE )

—B 7555 ()
RS B SMEE > &

— R A TR R RE > AR

TRAELT A2 R (U8

o) 5h > BRI TR R TARAIS

HASEHE o

BF—MEER—- ZMIABVGHESD
UREERBREE
> BHEGEREE
BER12ME R FERE
BiE5E

BMEER—- ZMIABVGHES
BEERMBER
e BiIFEERE
THEEBHGEE
BRENEZHAEBRE
BiE5E

F=EER- RESEHEERE
ZEHMEE (BEXEHE
BERRIRERRE) >
HEGHEBEERSERE
HATRMRIE ERs1E

Bt7s:%
HRAEIERRMERD 2R
BRF O AEERBATREESN
TEREARMERD 2R ERER
FEEFABIERZETRRESS
Bt 8 - MEBEHZ > *EEFT

BEET 2 RRREEBERRER
Bk AEEEREBEEELEAERE
RERTAENZEERR > HREE
BAREEIRIE Z A EE R LS
o




Annual Report 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEE®HBEHME ®

(continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings and payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at amortised
cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or
loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average cost method
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

=8
FERNAN AR FERNE T
ZBIRE TR o BAIRINE FIIM A
EEE - THmAREmZ A ETE
EEEME - ERFIREGEEL

StEERMA TR REEMEEZE
(C157%: N 3

RERREFEEE
MREHREAERMS > BHER
ReSEREAEEFREEHF
;o UREERBZERRE (HEE
SHEEAKR > B—RNREBAR=ZE
BRI EoERFERaERIRE
L) BAREREEABAERR
TEERDZIRITEX

MEGEMBRRERMES > BEK
ReFEEEATEARREZER
RERFRRTZRE (BEEHRE
R URMERBEEEEZEE -




Annual Report 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEE®HBEHME ®

(continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEE®HBEHME ®

(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the costs, for which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

(a) Sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology, healthcare and
Chinese medicine products
Revenue from the sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology,
healthcare and Chinese medicine products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of the pharmaceuticals,
biotechnology, healthcare and Chinese medicine products.

(b)  Provision of Chinese medical services

Revenue from the provision of Chinese medical services
is recognised over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the service, because
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
from services provided by the Group.
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(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Customer membership program

The Group operates a customer membership program
which entitles customers to use the credit on future consultation
of Chinese medical services and purchases of Chinese
medicines. No expiry dates are attached to the extra credits.
The obligation to provide the right to the customer is therefore a
separate performance obligation.

The transaction price is allocated between the provision
of Chinese medical services and extra credits on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The stand-alone selling price of
each extra credit is estimated based on the right to be given when
the extra credits are redeemed by the customer.

A contract liability is recognised for the unexercised rights
relating to the membership program at the time of the initial
sales transaction. Revenue from the membership program is
recognised when the extra credits are redeemed by the customer.
Revenue for extra credits that are not expected to be redeemed is
recognised in the proportion to the pattern of rights exercised by
the customers.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a
customer before the Group transfers the related goods or
services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e. transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEE®HBEHME ®

(continued)

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain specific
percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which
is different from the Company’s functional currency, Renminbi
(“‘RMB”). As the shares of the Company are listed on the
Stock Exchange, for the convenience of users of the financial
statements, the results and financial position of the Group are
expressed in HKS$. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of
a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

2.4

TESHHBERE @

5hs
ZEMBHRERNB T (LIEER
BZIBEEBARK) 28 - ARER
B RRIR TP £ > A5 ER IR
REAE > AEEEEKRT TR
MAETIE AEERZEERER
EHINEER  HMBREREE TN
FRENREERE - AEERZEE
ZHNBRBNIEXZBERMMES
2 ERERREAR - LIMESHE
ZEBEERER  RAEMINEER
RBEEHRZERILE - GHEHRE
EREEZEBENEDED -

BREERATIIRMUINE ST EZIE
EREE  RAVIXZHZEXRR
B BARBEIIRMIMNEFEZIE
ERER KAMEAREEZBHZ
ERNE - BB AREEFEZIF
EWMERZREGEAZFEEBZANEE

HE2HWaBERBHBHETDHNE
E2HBDHRHEEENZEEZRE
EE) —fEE -

#EEAMBEMANERBUHRES
REFEREENFFERAENAR
BE - XA D 2RI E
K> NI RXFZEMBEEE T HER
HEMNEMEENIFEGEEENIF
ERaRZEM - HESERNMRN
AW ZEEEMSERGAEN
MEWREERZ B -

RAAREARAE



Annual Report 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

Year enaed 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE
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(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of the Company and certain
overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the HK$. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into HK$ at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of the Company and overseas subsidiaries
are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of these entities
which arise throughout the year are translated into HK$ at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the
value-in-use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill
is allocated. Estimating the value-in-use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2021 was
HK$103,269,153 (2020: HK$95,014,628). Further details are
given in note 16 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for
impairment annually and at other times when such an indicator
exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value-in-use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value-in-use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit using key assumptions such
as forecasted growth rates and budgeted gross margins and
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amounts of non-financial
assets other than goodwill are given in notes 14, 15 and 17 to the
financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade and other
receivables

The measurement of expected credit losses under HKFRS
9 on trade and other receivables requires judgement, in particular,
the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows
when determining impairment losses, and the assessment of a
significant increase in credit risk for other receivables. These
estimates are affected by a number of factors, changes in which
can result in different allowance amounts.

The Group’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex
models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding
the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. The
significant estimates involved in the determination of the inputs
applied in the ECL models include: the Group’s internal credit
grading, which assigns probabilities of default to the individual
grades; the segmentation of trade receivables based on risk
characteristics of the customers; development of ECL models,
including the various formulas and the choice of inputs over
determination of loss given default of the credit exposures;
determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios
and economic inputs, and the effect on probabilities of default,
exposures at default and losses given default; and selection of
forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability
weightings, to derive the economic inputs into the ECL models. It
has been the Group’s policy to regularly review its models in the
context of actual loss experience and adjust when necessary. For
further details of ECL provision for trade and other receivables,
please refer to notes 20 and 21 to the financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the managing director of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance, focuses on the types of goods or services delivered,
being the Chinese medicine business, medical and healthcare
services and pharmaceuticals and medical technologies business.
The CODM monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. In addition, the
CODM monitors the Group's assets and liabilities as a whole, and
accordingly, no segment assets and liabilities are presented.

Segment performance is evaluated based on segment profit
or loss, which is a measure of adjusted loss/profit before tax. The
adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the
Group’s loss/profit before tax except that the allocation of central
administration costs, certain other income, gains and losses are
excluded from such measurement.

FE s HIE KRG @

Bk R R E BRI TR 15 B A5
R

BB BIRELER FRIA TRE
WERR R HERWHRTREE IR 2
PIERRIEHHE > 5552 - REERE
EEMHAHERERIEE BRI EE
EARAGSARRE R RENBER R
Al o ZFEARSERRTE » MHEE
B SR EREAEEE -

FEENARMEEBIETERE
MERNRLER > THEFRSIEFRH
FEMABEERZSFHEERBLERN
HERARER o & E FRRRS B RS 1RIE B PR
FERBEAB RIS RNEKRGSE
15 L AEBAE SR 0 HREN
HWERDE TERNEFR ; BUOIRMKIE
=R RERIEESD ; BIEFEIREE R
RE > BIEEEENEE R RE R
NAREEXNREABRERE ; BERS
BB RSB A BB BRE
o UREMRIREMERRE « AR
REXIEE ; RIZH AT RBREE B
MR ERIAEMEELE > REE A IE
SIATRRAEERBER Eh - AEER
HREZRBERERBEREHEREE
BN EMEREITHRE o RINEUERT
RET R ARG SRR EHNE—
T8 A2 R BHRRMEE20RK21

HEDBER

TRF BN EERKRTEDER
RFEMARABEFHEE AEE
EERARE) ERZENEDRAE
Rt 2GR LR » Bl h BB
7 BRI R ERT R E YN B EL
RES T EEERREGERELEH
BREENBZEZR/UEHBRERD
KRBT EZIRE o L > TEE
BAREGERFIEENEEEERSE
& AitEE2IDBEERER -

D ERRIBTH IR 15 9 8 i A S
1B (BEREBRRAEGE & 25t
£) 71l o KIBBBRRANEH EEia%
BALEBRRAEGE 8f—-RZh
EtE > B ENDRIFPRITER
g~%¥ﬁ€%xu&%ﬁ&§ﬁ2

[

SN 113



114

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

Year ended 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

During the year, for the purpose of better resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance, the
management has redefined and renamed the segments as
“Chinese medicine business”, “Medical and healthcare services”
(collectively, formerly known as “Chinese medical business”) and
“Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies business” (formerly
known as “Pharmaceutical and biotechnology business”) to reflect

the latest business development.

Comparative figures of the segment information have been
reclassified to conform with the current period’s presentation.

4. REHEBEFH @

RAFE > BEAYNDEE R R
DERIE EEEROMEMRAEMS S
AR EER BERMRERT (AR
BARRER) REYMBERERRER
(AT BELEMET) » URMRMBIER

BE-o

AHERHLEBRHFEREMDLE
MARAKSHBES—5 -

2021 2021
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine  technologies healthcare
business business services Total
hEE EYNRE B&E
2% (BEE S {2 IR 75 ot
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Segment revenue: SEUIA
Sales to external customers MM BEEIHE 111,996,548 357,654,044 4,681,519 474,332,111
Intersegment sales DEEHE 618,297 402,664 = 1,020,961
112,614,845 358,056,708 4,681,519 475,353,072
Reconciliation: Ef 3
Elimination of intersegment sales 859 SPRISHE (1,020,961)
Revenue WA 474,332,111
Segment results DERELE (3,083,486) (113,866) (6,364,109) (9,561,461)
Reconciliation: iR
Other income, gains and losses, HEWA -~ R
net K518 3 2,803,015
Corporate and other unallocated Tt¥ERHEE
expenses b b (20,683,114)
Loss before tax PRIZAIESIB (27,441,560)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. REFHBEH @
2021 (continued) 2021 (48)
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
business business services Unallocated Total
) )
hEE BE B&EM
% REER {Ri2BR KRB Mt
HKS$ HK$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$
Other segment information: HERBEH:
Interest income FIEBA 17,540 631,158 8,884 2,576,737 3,234,319
Depreciation and amortisation EREH 861,769 13,686,381 1,315,255 4,754,460 20,617,865
Finance costs HERE 38,9682 - 1,869 528,500 569,351
Capital expenditure* BRREY 57,39 146,271,020 120,079 17,191,837 163,640,175
* Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and * BEXARZEEVE BRERSE &
equipment, right-of-use assets and other intangible assets. FAREEUREEEREEZRE °
2020 2020
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
business business services Total
hEE  EYMNBE BER ‘
2% ESES IR “ast
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Segment revenue: DEPUIA :
Sales to external customers HINRERIHE 46,156,355 443,604,287 1,714,457 491,475,099
Intersegment sales DERIHE 48,502 565,553 - 614,055
46,204,857 444,169,840 1,714,457 492,089,154
Reconciliation: #EE .
Elimination of intersegment sales X852 SBRISHE (614,055)
Revenue WA 491,475,099
Segment results DEBELE (12,963,352) 53,399,686 (9,109,070) 31,327,264
Reconciliation: #EE .
Other income, gains and losses, net EEUA
W K A5 1R R ER 3,841,658
Corporate and other unallocated TtEREEX
expenses DERAX (19,241,164)
Profit before tax PRI AR A 15,927,758
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4 RBEFHEH @
2020 (continued) 2020 (4&)
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
business business services Unallocated Total
&
hEsE BR BRA
%% R ES RIEIRTS XA st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
Other segment information: HESEPER :
Interest income FEWKA 20,965 1,817,992 12,923 3,440,587 5,292,467
Impairment of goodwill BERE 2,881,666 - - - 2,881,666
Depreciation and amortisation  $ 25 Bz 1 £ 1,433,601 11,946,300 852,236 5,287,819 19,519,956
Finance costs L= J0 7N 4,323 62,812 20,537 286,272 373,944
Capital expenditure* BARRX 689,868 98,827,401 2,828,723 - 102,345,992

*

Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and other intangible assets.

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

* BEARZBEME BERKRHE E
REEEURECENEEZRE -

3hiz & ¥
(a) FKEIFEEZHKA

2021 2020
HK$ HK$

B BT

Mainland China A oK fE 472,388,176 489,405,438
Hong Kong 58 1,569,619 1,404,880
Australia B AFI SR 374,316 664,781

474,332,111 491,475,099

The revenue information of operations above is based on
the locations of the customers.

U EEBZIMABRUERFIE
AR
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information (continued)
(b) Non-current assets

4,

REJEBEE @

i E R @
b) FHRBEE

2021 2020

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Mainland China H 5] o P 503,234,518 331,241,575
Hong Kong 58 16,927,278 6,742,192
Australia TR K T 16,394 14,231

520,178,190 337,997,998

The non-current asset information of operations above
is based on the locations of the assets and excludes equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

Information about major customers

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no
revenue from any single customer accounted for 10% or more of
the total revenue of the Group.

U EEEBZIFRBEEEHUE
EFfEMAERE > BAEEEEAR
ARBEFAHEZEREZRER
Zo

FREEERZEH
BIE20218 K% 2020838310 LEF

B tEREEA-ZERBRAL

AEBMBAI0%TU L o
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 5. WA -HEWA - Wk KkiESE2EE
An analysis of revenue is as follows: BRABAZZIRWT :
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Revenue from contracts with customers ERAHIRA
Sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology and HEBE - £EYRIER
healthcare products REER 357,654,044 443,604,287
Sale of Chinese medicine products fHE R E R 114,461,086 47,417,084
Provision of Chinese medical services AP ERYE 2,216,981 453,728
474,332,111 491,475,099
Revenue from contracts with customers EREHWA
(i)  Disaggregated revenue information (i) AP HEZUAEN
For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE201F383MBLEE
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
Segments nE business business services Total
3y |
hEE BE BEN
£5% BREH RiEMRH @t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Types of goods or services &k R ER
Sale of products HEEm 111,996,548 357,654,044 2,464,538 472,115,130
Chinese medical services B fR % = = 2,216,981 2,216,981
Total revenue from contracts with ~ F RGN ABER
customers 111,996,548 357,654,044 4,681,519 474,332,111
Geographical markets g A
Mainland China m @7( 3 111,996,548 356,814,612 3,577,016 472,388,176
Hong Kong EH = 503,348 1,066,271 1,569,619
Australia BAH T - 336,084 38,232 374,316
Total revenue from contracts with ~ F R GHIRABER
customers 111,996,548 357,654,044 4,681,519 474,332,111
Timing of revenue recognition W ARESD 2 B R
Goods transferred at a point in ime IR FFHEH 7 EMm 111,996,548 357,654,044 2,464,538 472,115,130
Services rendered over time R—EEEREZ RS = = 2,216,981 2,216,981
Total revenue from contracts with EREHAMALE
customers 111,996,548 357,654,044 4,681,519 474,332,111
RAEXFRAT
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5.  REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 5. WA - HEWA S REE3E

(continued) (#8)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) EREHBA &
(i)  Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) EER/KZMAEF ()
For the year ended 31 March 2020 B E2020F3831HLILEFE
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
Segments Vit business husiness services Total
X anm
hEE BE BEM
£% SRS AR st
HK$ HKS HK$ HKS
BT B BT BT
Types of goods or services SmaRHER
Sale of products HEER 46,156,355 443,604,287 1,260,729 491,021,371
Chinese medical services hERE - - 453,728 453,728
Total revenue from contracts with customers  BR SHIMALEE 46,156,355 443,604,287 1,714,457 491,475,099
Geographical markets igmE
Mainland China HE AR 46,156,355 441,664,177 1,584,906 489,405,438
Hong Kong A - 1,275,329 129,551 1,404,880
Australia BAFE - 664,781 - 664,781
Total revenue from contracts with customers  RESAINAL%E 46,156,355 443,604,287 1714 457 491,475,099
Timing of revenue recognition WARESR 2 BRIt
Goods transferred at a point in time RERRER &R 46,156,355 443,604,287 1,260,729 491,021,371
Services rendered over time R — RS R R 1 2 IR % - - 453,728 453,728
Total revenue from contracts with customers KR SHIRAL%E 46,156,355 443,604,287 1714 457 491,475,099

TRETRARSHEEIME

The following table shows the amounts of revenue N N
SFARSHYZENERMEH#

recognised in the current reporting period that were included in

the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: IRAEH
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
B BT
Revenue recognised that was included Bt ARSHIW Z
in contract liabilities at the beginning sHNEaEZ
of the reporting period: EREIWA
Sale of products and medical services 4 & fn K B& B AR 75 6,311,847 12,824,486
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(i)  Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology, healthcare and

Chinese medicine products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology, healthcare and Chinese
medicine products and payment is generally due within 60 to 180
days from delivery, except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required.

Provision of Chinese medical services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due upon
customer acceptance.

An analysis of other income, gains and losses, net, is as
follows:

WA~ HEWA - Wi B R518FER
(%)

ERAHWA @)

(i) BAIEE
EREAEERNE T2 ERHR
mr:

HEBE - LYRIF -~ (RER T

BEEq

BHBEERIABRE - £9H
R RERTFBEEMEER > BN
— AR X T B #A#E FT60FE 180K A E
HA o MR R —ARZATAMRIE ©

TR EIRE
BHEERRHIREREREE
L TRIE— RIS B R AR ST T o

ERHEEHWA ~ KWa RERZE
ZORME

2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Other income HeWA
Bank interest income RITF S WA 3,234,319 5,292,467
Government subsidies* B AT & Bh* 3,153,831 356,761
Others He 444,898 328,539
6,833,048 5,977,767
Gains and losses, net I as R 5485 58
Fair value (losses)/gains, net: NAEE (B8 W PEE
Derivative instruments — transactions TEIR-
not qualifying as hedges FRHEHFAERZRS (85,782) -
Structured deposits EEETER 1,260,982 3,444,666
Foreign exchange differences, net SMEEZEER 0 BRE (495,573) 362,352
Loss on disposal/write-off of property, HE Y E
plant and equipment B4 A oE (74,027) (72,295)
Gain on termination of leases HE&RIEZ RS 51,906 -
Impairment of goodwill A& RE - (2,881,666)
7,490,554 6,830,824

There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to * I #R7A BA L S 4 Bh 2 i SR IE AR
these grants. HHHEEE-
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6. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BR¥AT (B548) &EF
The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after REEZBRIRAE (B518) &
charging/(crediting): mex (B85t A) -
2021 2020
Notes HK$ HK$
M =E B BT
Cost of inventories sold BEFEZHEK 215,344,576 130,461,240
Depreciation of property, ME - -BEKRREIRTE
plant and equipment 14 8,971,827 9,030,568
Depreciation of right-of-use assets £ FI1EE EITE 15 5,756,557 6,047,220
Amortisation of other intangible HeEBrEE#DH
assets 17 5,889,481 4,442,168
Research and development costs ~ AfF &% B 7= 11,825,920 1,503,925
Impairment of goodwill EHERE 16 - 2,881,666
Lease payments not included in the WA BIEEHE&GFEStEZ
measurement of lease liabilities HEMH 15 1,197,831 1,094,876
Auditors’ remuneration Z B Em B = 1,505,000 1,500,000
Employee benefit expenses EEEFHX (B
(including directors’ and BEERFTETHAER
chief executive’s remuneration B (M95E8)) :
(note 8)):
Wages and salaries T & K5 BM 61,058,347 54,850,419
Pension scheme contributions BIAEETE R 3,508,660 5,225,226
64,567,007 60,075,645
Foreign exchange differences, net B =R HEE 495,573 (362,352)
Impairment of financial assets, net: & RIE EREFZE :
(Reversal of impairment)/ FE s AR TR e PR W TR %
impairment of trade and bills (BEIRE) RE
receivables, net FEE 20 (48,359) 163,318
Impairment/(reversal of ST ATEMRIA
impairment) of financial assets RERHEERBRBRHRZ
included in prepayments, ERHEERE
deposits and other (B[R E) > P58
receivables, net 21 19,429 (25,302)
(28,930) 138,016
Fair value (gains)/losses, net: AREE (k) B8
BER
Derivative instruments — TTETRE-FFSE
transactions not qualifying HHERZRS
as hedges 85,782 -
Structured deposits EEMETER (1,260,982) (3,444,666)
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. RERZ

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MEREZATUT :
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest on bank loans RITERZHE 3,298,019 241,216
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGZIE 569,351 311,132
Total interest expense FERR42%8 3,867,370 552,348
Less: Interest capitalised A BERNEZFE (3,298,019) (178,404)
569,351 373,944

8.  CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 8. FEFTHAEBKRERHMSE

Chief executive’s and directors’ remuneration for the year, RiE EHRE - FERARERGIE
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) 383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ () R(MEU K AT (3%
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the BEESMNEEN) ROIE2EBEARF
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) EZFETHABREEMESWT :

Regulation, is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$ HK$
HIT BT
Fees Fiok 492,000 492,000
(a) Independent Non-executive Directors (a) BWILIERITES
The fees paid to Independent Non-executive Directors FABNFRILIERNITESZH
during the year were as follows: EFWMTF :
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Mr. Lam Yat Fai MBEESLE 72,000 72,000
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong B 72,000 72,000
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa HEMELE 72,000 72,000
216,000 216,000
There were no other emoluments payable to the FRILEEMFEILIFRNITES
Independent Non-executive Directors during the year (2020: Nil). ZHEME (20205 : &) o

(WP < AEELERAR
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8. CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 8. FETHABREEMNE @
(continued)
(b) The chief executive, an Executive Director and Non- (b) EEITHAE - NITESRIEH
executive Directors TEE
Fees
e
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
#IT BT
Chief executive: FETHAES
Mr. Fang Wen Quan AXELE 60,000 60,000
Executive Director: HITES
Mr. Lui Man Sang BXERE 72,000 72,000
Non-executive Directors: JEHITESE :
Mr. Shen Bo W e 72,000 72,000
Mr. Feng Quanming BERLE - -
Dr. Lam Lee G. MREELT 72,000 72,000
144,000 144,000
Total directors' remuneration =) b 276,000 276,000
There was no arrangement under which a director or the FATREEFFFETHAEMR
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration EYRRBETAMNE ZZHE -
during the year.
9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. hEBEEHMES

The five highest paid employees during the year did not
include any director (2020: Nil), details of whose remuneration are
set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year
of the five (2020: five) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

FRABRRSHNEESREIEFE
fAIEE (20206 : &) » H SR
LEXHizEs c EARFRE R (20205 : £ R)
TEEAREETRTFETHAEBZR
BN EEZMEFBNT

2021 2020

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind N R REYR R 5,107,072 3,480,844
Performance related bonuses BEWIEA 96,987 201,049
Pension scheme contributions BIKE 5HEIH =R 72,000 79,500
5,276,059 3,761,393
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

TEmSHMES @

B B p LA T 4B R M A IFEE SR Ky
WIFFBITHRAEZ&BHNESEZ
ABT

Number of employees

EEAE
2021 2020
Nil to HK$1,000,000 4% 251,000,000 7T 4 5
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T 22,500,000 7T 1 -
5 5
10. INCOME TAX 10. FRiS#R

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year (2020: Nil). Tax on profits assessable in
Mainland China has been calculated at the applicable Mainland
China corporate income tax (“CIT") rate of 25% (2020: 25%),
except for Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) Ltd. (“Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)”), which is the subsidiary of the Group.
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) is qualified as an advanced technology
enterprise and has obtained approvals from the relevant tax
authorities for a preferential tax rate of 15% for a period of
3 years up to December 2022. Taxes on profits assessable
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

HRAEBRTFEANLTEESE
EEXEMERREY  RIEEERSE
B BN EE (20205 © |) o [RARE
BB AT RAEEE (%8 AERA
B (“RAREEE (%8)") 9 RAEEKX
FEFLFESRMUE M U Z I8 » THiRER
BREPBEAESEFRER (CXEFRE
) #Z25% (20204F : 25%) st E - 1B
BB ABREERER 0 RAEEE
(B TESMEMEEER &
SRR P R HL IR B E R =EA15%
W AH=F >  BE2F12B5
- HetEMWERREN ZRERE
gﬁ;@%ﬁﬁ&%iﬂggz%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ

2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current — Mainland China BIVHA — AR [ K B
Charge for the year KEEZH 2,050,463 6,369,450
(Overprovision)/under provision MEFE (BEEHE) ./
in prior years BEARE (1,739,182) 1,337,517
Withholding tax AR
Charge for the year KEEZH 424,250 -
Overprovision in prior years MUEEEBLEEEG - (1,611,205)
Deferred tax (note 27) EIERR IR (i EE27) (2,259,285) 1,031,790
Total tax (credit)/charge AEERE(ER) ./
for the year X H#RERE (1,523,754) 7,127,552
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Year enaed 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

10.

11.

INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FRGIR @)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to (loss)/ UT AR (§518) a8 2R
profit before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which EXH (RBAEKRBHME RS ZER
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense FREBEEB ZEEMERHE) Bl
at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable EMREAEZREBEBZHZHIE » U
rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as RERRE BEERRE) BEMME
follows: ZHER

2021 2020
HK$ % HKS %
BT BT
(Loss)/profit before tax RHtAT (B518) /aA (27,441,560) 15,927,758
Tax at the statutory tax rate WEEREHBZRE (6,860,390) 250 3,981,939 25.0
Lower tax rate(s) enacted by local 375 1 B 42 ffs
authority ZBERE 1,173,181 (4.3)  (2,944,993) (18.5)
Effect of withholding tax on the ~ RAEETEHBAE
distributable profits of the AKEFE
Group’s PRC subsidiaries CENRZEE 71,558 (0.3)  (1,505,429) (9.5)
Income not subject to tax BARRZHIA (1,533,164) 56  (1,015,696) (6.4)
Expenses not deductible for tax ~ e[z H 1,495,823 (5.4) 3,095,725 19.4
Tax losses utilised from previous BEHAEEIAZ
periods RIEEE (157,166) 0.6 - -
Tax losses not recognised KERZMIEHE 6,025,586 (22.0) 4,178,489 26.2
Adjustments in respect of current St ERTRIE R BN
tax of previous period fEHAE (1,739,182) 6.3 1,337,517 8.5
Tax (credit)/charge at the BRAEBZENRE
Group’s effective rate HEZRIE(ER)
Z (1,523,754) 55 7,127,552 44.7
ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD 1. S HEARFFHEZHEMANZE
FOR SALE AND LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH ERESEAKEHEZEEER
THE ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE EAEMZER

On 22 February 2019, the Company announced the
decision of its board of directors to dispose of Zhuhai Tianda
Realty Limited (“Zhuhai Realty’). Zhuhai Realty engages
in property holding. The Group has decided to dispose of
the property because it will no longer have any operation in
Zhuhai Realty after the relocation of its existing research and
development (‘R&D”") and production base to a new R&D and
production base in Jinwan District, Zhuhai, the PRC.

201928228 » ZATEM »
HEEGREHERERARBEEARR
NE (HBEE) BKBEENEY
EER e AEBBEREHEYE
AH BRI SRR ERERBEMUR
PR %S S & A FT A 8 R B BE A i
B> KEEXBIABEEMAEE-
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

11.

120 ESEEEEEPE

ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD
FOR SALE AND LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH
THE ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (continued)

On 22 February 2019, Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Hong
Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
signed the conditional disposal right agreement with Tianda
Group Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong and being
the ultimate holding company of the Company. The triggering
conditions included (i) the Group proposed to relocate to new
R&D and production base; (ii) all approvals and permits from
the government authorities and consent from third parties,
if any, were obtained; and (iii) the Group has removed its
production lines from the existing R&D and production base. In
the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2019, directors determined that the
sale was highly probable and Zhuhai Realty was available for
immediate sale. Based on the facts and circumstances as at 31
March 2019, directors expected the new R&D and production
base to be completed by the end of 2019. Consequently, Zhuhai
Realty had been classified as a disposal group held for sale and
presented separately in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2019. Details are disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 22 February 2019 and circular
dated 12 April 2019.

As at 31 March 2020, the construction of the new R&D
and production base had not yet been completed due to delay in
construction and the outbreak of novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”)
since December 2019. As at 31 March 2021 and up to the date
of approval of these financial statements, the construction of the
aforesaid R&D and production base has been completed, and the
Group is applying for the required approvals and permits from
the government authorities in order to complete the disposal. The
directors expect the disposal of Zhuhai Realty will be completed
by the end of 2021. As at 31 March 2021, the net asset value of
Zhuhai Realty included in the consolidated financial statements
amounted to HK$133,010,581, of which directors were confident
that the recoverable amount of Zhuhai Realty would not be less
than its carrying value.

11.

DEAFEHEZHEANZE
ERESEABEHEZESER
EERZzEaE®

201928228 » Z"AT 2B M
BABIRAKEE (F8) BRATHEX
AEEERAE (MNEBFMBILNA
B ATATRKIZRAT) EEEK
HHE#DE - BRREaIE ()%
B EZRBENAE R BBERENR ; (i)
BEFSBFEBNFREHE R
RBE=ZAHNEE (WAB) ; Ki)jdsEEH
ERIBEMERNEEMBRALE
4% o ERBAEBE E2019F3831H
IEFENGEMBRRE  EFET
HEREABETAE BB EAH
AN E - IREER2019E3831EMNSE
BRIEN > EETEHINMAERRUER
I 12019 ERTSE AL © AL » %Ki
BECSEARFHENHESR
W 2019383 A EG A MBERRR
FEBEY - FBEENAATBEA
20192822 A& K B HA 420194
4B12BMIBRFIFE o

72020538 31H » R THRIERR
LUB220195E128 A 2R I8 35 3 B e AR R
F (0198 RFEEW) BB AR
T B B B3 A9 12 2R i85 SR ST AR © 522021
FIRMHEEAMBRREM &L
B PSR BEEMNERE R
T MAERIERBIF%RRAEF
EM X R UERHESEIE &
EFEHRREEEHESIERN2021E
[EAISTAY © HY20214E3831H » BB &
EMAGEMBERRNEEZES
133,010,581t >  EF > EEFHE D
KEBENTINEESERASEMNELR
HE o
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Year enaed 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

11.

Annual Report 2021

ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD 11. D iEAIFEHEZHEHENZ2E

FOR SALE AND LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH
THE ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Zhuhai Realty

classified as held for sale as at 31 March 2021 are as follows:

ERBESEABEHEZESER
EERZzaE®

12021 E3BM BN ERFFHE
ZHRBEEXEZTEREKRERERT

T
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Assets B'E
Property, plant and equipment M BEREZE 67,216,825 62,042,821
Right-of-use assets FREEE 67,294,572 62,114,580
Cash and short term deposits R REHER 13,262,764 9,944,291
Assets classified as held for sale DEAFEHEZEE 147,774,161 134,101,692
Liabilities aE
Accruals FE 5t E0E (292,699) (235,279)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEEE (14,470,881)  (13,356,987)
Liabilities directly associated with the HOBEARKELE
assets classified as held for sale ZEEERBRZzZEE (14,763,580) (13,592,266)
Net assets directly associated HHEHNBEZAR
with the disposal group ZEERE 133,010,581 120,509,426
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

12.

13.

DIVIDENDS 12. BRE
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
T BT
Final - HK0.26 cent per share for 2021 RHEARG B — 20214 5 %0.26
(HKO0.13 cent per share for 2020) L (20205F & A0.13781WL) 5,590,109 2,795,054

A final dividend of HK0.26 cent per share amounting to
HK$5,590,109 in respect of the year ended 31 March 2021
(2020: HKO0.13 cent per share amounting to HK$2,795,054) has
been proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share
amount is based on the (loss)/profit for the year attributable
to owners of the parent, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 2,150,041,884 (2020: 2,150,041,884) in issue
during the year.

13.

BEEREMEE20214E383181E
FREIRMTREAIR S EMR0.26581l > &
5,590,109 7T (20204F : & A50.13781 »
12,795,054 7T) » AFRRNER
BREBEAG EHMEE > HAES -

BAREBEERRAARGER
(E548) /B #

BREX (BH) BMNEH
BEBAARREEEFE (R &
MEREREHTEBERMETIIH
2,150,041,8848% (2020%F : 2,150,041,884
BR) 5t8 o

2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the parent, FR st HESREA (B18)
used in basic (loss)/earnings per share B zZzBARRKREREMN
calculation (B548) /i Fl (27,142,070) 3,142,995
Number of shares
AhE 4= ]
2021 2020
Weighted average number of ordinary shares R EtEEREZA (5Hi8)
in issue during the year for the purposes of BNZFRNEETEZBER

T8

basic (loss)/earnings per share calculation

2,150,041,884 2,150,041,884

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

AEERE E20215 52020538
MALFETEAETHENEZE
BITEER-
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Year enaed 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. ME - -BERSEE

Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
g 8
BY WRRE BERHSE RERRRE AE HEIE i
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AT E AT AT E AT AT
At1 April 2019, net of accumulated R2019E4R1R
depreciation NREGHE 20,234,815 1150021 20402620 8765380 2254809 3373180 95,560,915
Additions HE - 744,337 41904 3478818 - BTs05M9 9147318
Depreciaton provided during the year ERirERt (525550)  (B15.490)  (4682308) (50213 (499945) - (9,030,568)
Disposalslurite-off HE /His - - (54,146) (20,757) - - (74.909)
Transfer & - - 283,280 - - (283.80) -
Exchange realignment ERA% (1,271,838 (19,025 (1,740,936) (564,468) (94151  (5,007,766)  (8,69,184)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020, 2020838318 K202

net of accumulated depreciation
Addtions

FIR1A NREHIE
e

18437423 1,059,843
818,328 46,200

5627556 9151700 1660805 115,967,253 169,904,578
6,236,629 40,42 138,142,004 145,683,203

Depreciation provided during the year ERERR (612,05) (294903 (5,027.977)  (2,661,389) (375.473) - (8918
Disposalsfite-off HE /s - - (62,986) (14,428) - - (77414
Transfer & 191,486 - 350539 - - (542,025) -
Exchange realignment ERAE 1,548,601 - e 671,170 93480 13486376 17,811,514
At 31 March 2021 RUNEIBAE 20,383,753 §11,040 27135648 7587005 1378810 267,053,608 324,350,054
Fumniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
g fr& >
BF WERE BERAE RERRE AE  EEIR s
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT E AT AT E BT AT
At 31 March 2020: RAONEIR/INA
Cost [ 28,741,641 ST3736 4809648 20,367,350 702,789 115967253 223928417
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (10304218)  (2693,003)  (24469,002)  (11,23,650)  (5,360,986) - (p4,023839)
Net carrying amount REFE 18437423 1059843 23627556 9,151,700 1660803 115,967,253 169,904,578
At 31 March 2021: RN1EIANA
Cost e 2176338 3880917 58,223,008 22262473 7483838 267,093,608 391,080,237
Accumulated depreciation ZHIE (11,792,585)  (3,069,777)  (31,087.415) (14,675,378  (6,105,028) - (66,730,183)
Net carrying amount REFE 20,383,753 §11,040 27135648 79567,005 1378810 267,053,608 324,350,054

At 31 March 2021, certain of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
HK$266,883,438 (2020: HK$115,709,641) were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 26).

2021638318 » AEBIREZFEN
#5266,883,43878 7T (20204 :© 115,709,641
7o) NETYE - BERREERFIEAR
FAEERN—MRIRITRENER (FI5E26) -
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

15. LEASES 15. #8
The Group as a lessee TEBEEAEBEA
The Group has lease contracts for leasehold land, clinics, AEEMHEEEMANEEL
offices and warehouses used in its operations. Lump sum M 2 -WAEKRBEIEHES
payments were made upfront to acquire the leasehold land from 4o RIEZELMBEENGKR > ER
the owners with lease periods of 30 to 50 years, and no ongoing BEFNESHEE I MFRAEE—X
payments will be made under the terms of these land leases. MR HEAA30ESF > HEBEFE
Leases of clinics, offices and warehouses generally have lease BESZNERARE -2 MAER
terms between 2 and 5 years. BEMNHEIREE A2E5F o
(a)  Right-of-use assets (a) EHAESE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets rERFERAEEEZREERE
and the movements during the year are as follows: AEEINT :
Clinics,
Leasehold offices and
land warehouses Total
R -MAaE
et REE waat
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
As at 1 April 2019 72201948 1H 39,111,666 8,951,530 48,063,196
Additions "B - 1,144,752 1,144,752
Depreciation charge EMX (835,587) (5,211,633) (6,047,220)
Exchange realignment EREE (2,464,238) (7,148) (2,471,386)
As at 31 March 2020 and 7202038318 &

1 April 2020 20204818 35,811,841 4,877,501 40,689,342
Additions B - 17,191,177 17,191,177
Termination of leases HEIE - (1,663,105) (1,663,105)
Depreciation charge IEBREX (851,988) (4,904,569) (5,756,557)
Exchange realignment E R 2,962,871 4,868 2,967,739
As at 31 March 2021 h2202153H31H 37,922,724 15,505,872 53,428,596

At 31 March 2021, certain of the Group’s right-of-use
assets with a net carrying amount of approximately
HK$34,943,357 (2020: HK$32,976,453) were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 26).

R2021E38318 > AEEKRE
H{E 49 #34,943,357#H 75 (20204
32,976,453 ) WETHEREEER
BIREARTIARERN—RIRTHE
BIE(R (PMIsE26) ©
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Year enaed 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

15.  LEASES (continued) 15. #HE @)
The Group as a lessee (continued) FEBREAFRBA®
(b) Lease liabilities (b)) HE&E
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements HEaRZREAERFRNEEU
during the year are as follows: T
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Carrying amount at 1 April R4B1BMNEEEE 5,016,744 8,951,530
New leases mEE 17,191,177 1,144,752
Termination of leases HE&IE (1,715,011) -
Accretion of interest recognised during the year £ IFE SR AT 218 569,351 311,132
Payments (NES (5,233,583) (5,384,245)
Exchange realignment BE R AR 3,045 (6,425)
Carrying amount at 31 March MR3B3AMEREE 15,831,723 5,016,744
Analysed into: o
Current portion REERD 4,177,767 4,331,556
Non-current portion JERENBRD 11,653,956 685,188
15,831,723 5,016,744
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note HEaRZIBD IR BRE
36 to the financial statements. Fff 5E36EH 1K B8 o
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) 1Az ARFEsTRYTH B #E R R0 B
leases are as follows: T
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
B BT
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGENERE 569,351 311,132
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEEITEMRX 5,756,557 6,047,220
Expenses relating to short-term leases and B HRE B R e fE HA
other leases with remaining lease terms 12020438 31H
ended on or before 31 March 2020 HZHIMER
ZHEHEMEBANER 1,197,831 1,094,876
Total amount recognised in profit or loss R PRI RIELEEE 7,523,739 7,453,228
(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 31 to (d) THERNIRESREEERTERE
the financial statements. MIZES1INEE
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16.  GOODWILL 16. HE
HK$
B
31 March 2021 2021EE3H31H
Cost at 1 April 2020, net of accumulated impairment ~ $220205E481H Z A< 1& >
NEFRRERE 95,014,628
Exchange realignment PE R 8,254,525
Net carrying amount at 31 March 2021 20213831 B Z IR E R A 103,269,153
At 31 March 2021: #42021F38318 :
Cost 0% | 106,391,134
Accumulated impairment RetRE (3,121,981)
Net carrying amount REEE 103,269,153
31 March 2020 2020%E3H31H
Cost at 1 April 2019, net of accumulated impairment 722019548 1H Z B A< {& >
MR RstRE 104,827,352
Impairment during the year FARE (2,881,666)
Exchange realignment bE R ER % (6,931,058)
Net carrying amount at 31 March 2020 720203831 H 2 BREFE 95,014,628
At 31 March 2020: 7220205383181
Cost A& 100,038,005
Accumulated impairment REHRE (5,023,377)
Net carrying amount BREHRE 95,014,628
Impairment testing of goodwill HERENE

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units for impairment
testing:

. Pharmaceutical products cash-generating unit for Meng
Sheng Pharmaceutical

. Chinese medicine products cash-generating unit for Tianda
Chinese Medicine (China) Ltd. (“TCM (China)”)

. Chinese medicine products cash-generating unit for Zhuhai
Tianda Processed Chinese Herbal Medicine Ltd. (“Zhuhai
TPCHM")

. Pharmaceutical products cash-generating unit for Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the recoverable
amounts of the cash-generating units for Zhuhai TPCHM
and TCM (China) were HK$2,414,661 and HK$3,140,687,
respectively. Full impairment of HK$1,254,763 and impairment
of HK$1,626,903 were made for the goodwill attributable to the
cash-generating units for Zhuhai TPCHM and TCM (China), which
are included in the segment of the Chinese medicine business
(formerly known as Chinese medial business), as a result of
postponement in launching new products during that year.

BREBGHWBZEELDE
ETVNREELESEMEREAR :

. %EﬁﬁZ%é@E%iﬁﬁéiﬁ
ivi

c RAHEBEE (FE) BRAR (¢

AHEEE (hE) ") zHhEEER
HREEEE

o RERAPEBRRBERAR (K
BRAPEMRR) 2HEBEER
REEFEN

O RREE (KB 2BEERRS
EEE

H E2020FE3831H L EE >
BWRAPEMR RRATELZE (FhE)
MNEEELEMNTKEISED A
2,414,66178 7T 3,140,687 75 - B
ZEELEBRHEEFESR  HEXAF
BERRRATEZE (hE) WIRS
EXBENEEEES®EERE
1,254,763 7T K2 iR 181,626,903 7T » I
FFARBEER RIBPEER 9

i
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16.

GOODWILL (continued) 16. HE @
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued) HERENE @®
The recoverable amounts of the pharmaceutical BRERRSELBEUTKRES
products cash-generating units have been determined based BEERFHAEEAEMET » HF
on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections on RAREREEBIERELFIH 2
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior BREZHRERETARN - HELFH
management. The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows MEzBZERREELBURER
of the pharmaceutical products cash-generating units beyond the ERAZERXHBETENRAT
five-year period is the same as the long term average growth rate IR REAER o
of the pharmaceutical industry.
Tianda
Meng Sheng TCM Pharmaceuticals
Pharmaceutical (China) (Zhuhai)
RKAPEGEE RREE
BREms (R E) (ki)
31 March 2021 20215E3831H
Discount rate Ab IR = 17.18% 15.80% 15.90%
Terminal growth rate KA RE 3% 3% 3%
31 March 2020 2020%F3H31H
Discount rate ARIRZ 15.59% 16.35% 16.54%
Terminal growth rate KAERE 3% 3% 3%

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation
of the pharmaceuticals products cash-generating units as at 31
March 2021 and 31 March 2020. The following describes each
key assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Forecasted growth rates — The forecasted growth rates are
based on industry forecasts.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is with reference
to the gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of the pharmaceutical industry and discount rates
are consistent with external information sources.

RETIAREtE2021E3831B K
2020F3BMH B EERIREELE N
MEREE UTHIEEREANRER
EREEAETHERENAFNE
RESEIRER :

A RER-ERT
ABRE-

FRANTE

REENX-AUBEEREEF
REENEELSEREREFEN
—FFERNENE o

B IR 5 — P F R B R A AR AT
i 2 Bk S AR R B (i 5 R B S R LR o

ARETEENBEERTIHE
BRERENTERRBIIFEER
BE— o
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

16.

1% EEEEEERE

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the
cash-generating units is as follows:

16. BE ®@w

BERENS @
PEESREELEMUZHELZ
SREIEWT :

Tianda
Meng Sheng TCM  Pharmaceuticals
Pharmaceutical (China) (Zhuhai) Total
RAHEE XREXR
BEEx (FED) (¥i8) B
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT B B
Carrying amount of goodwill 202138318
as at 31 March 2021 ZBEREE 6,245,409 1,479,209 95,544,535 103,269,153
Carrying amount of goodwil 1202038318
as at 31 March 2020 ZBEREE 5,764,669 1,365,346 87,884,613 95,014,628

The effect of the reasonably possible change in
key assumptions on the calculation of value-in-use of the
cash-generating units, which would cause the carrying amounts to
equal to the recoverable amounts, are disclosed below.

Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, a decrease in the
average growth rate by 2 percentage points (2020: 4 percentage
points) would cause the carrying amount of the CGU to equal
to its recoverable amount, and any reasonably possible change
in other key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is
based would not cause the CGU’s carrying amount to exceed its
recoverable amount.

TCM (China)

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, a decrease
in the average growth rate by 13 percentage points (2020: Nil)
would cause the carrying amount of the CGU to equal to its
recoverable amount, and any reasonably possible change in other
key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is based would
not cause the CGU’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable
amount.

TXHRBEBTERZRRNGEAIEE
{EHREELEBUEREBENENT
£ AR EYERRESHEBET
SR EE B9 AT Uk [o] 8 o

BERE

KABDERRDA > FHIEREXT
F£21E B 17 B (20204F @ 41 & 15 Bh) #&
ENRTELEMUMNRAERSIHE
AU el 3R o T A U (2] 5 B8 PR 1 45 B9
HETERRNEMNSETEEZS A
SERREELEUNREEBLA
FIYR[E] 58 o

XA PR (P H)

AT EFERDR > PIIEREXT
PE13ME B 19 B (20204 : #|8) K E IR
TEFEMNREERSENE KD
TR MAWEIZEFRKENEEE
ERXNEFASEAEEHATER
REELBARREERBSHETKE
ETEE o
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16.

17.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, a decrease in the
average growth rate by 3 percentage points (2020: 7 percentage
points) would cause the carrying amount of the CGU to equal
to its recoverable amount, and any reasonably possible change
in other key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is
based would not cause the CGU’s carrying amount to exceed its
recoverable amount.

16. BE @

BEREENS @
EABE (HF)

ERBEFRDR > PIIERXT
FE3ME & {7 25 (20204 @ 7{E &= {5 &) #&
ERFEELBUNKREEESIE
ATk EIEER - A Uk (o = BR AT AR IR EY
HEFZRX[NEFNSEAISELSH T
CENRTETBEUNREEELH
FIYR [l 58 o

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17. HEEBREE

Licences Development
and permits costs Total
B R E B R A 4Bz
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
31 March 2021 2021538318
Cost at 1 April 2020, net of 1202048 1H 2
accumulated amortisation and A& > b
impairment Rt HRRE 22,374,851 8,131,706 30,506,557
Additions during the year FARE - 765,795 765,795
Amortisation provided during the year — £E #8513 1% (4,555,488) (1,333,993) (5,889,481)
Exchange realignment ERHEE 1,739,615 662,382 2,401,997
At 31 March 2021 14202138318 19,558,978 8,225,890 27,784,868
At 31 March 2021: 14202138318
Cost 7 96,096,615 9,596,872 105,693,487
Accumulated amortisation and Rt EBBERRE
impairment (76,537,637) (1,370,982)  (77,908,619)
Net carrying amount AREF(E 19,558,978 8,225,890 27,784,868
31 March 2020 2020E3831H
Cost at 1 April 2019, net of HR2019F4B 1B Z
accumulated amortisation and R AE > OBk
impairment R R RE 28,486,293 - 28,486,293
Additions during the year FRRE - 8,407,138 8,407,138
Amortisation provided during the year — 5F PO 81 55 & (4,442,168) - (4,442,168)
Exchange realignment EREE (1,669,274) (275,432) (1,944,706)
At 31 March 2020 12202038311 22,374,851 8,131,706 30,506,557
At 31 March 2020: 72020838318 -
Cost DN 88,885,470 8,131,706 97,017,176
Accumulated amortisation and Rt E KR E
impairment (66,510,619) - (66,510,619)
Net carrying amount EREFE 22,374,851 8,131,706 30,506,557
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE 18. IEEARAREBEIAHERE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Wzl RE
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Equity investments designated at fair value ISESRAABEAEE
through other comprehensive income PEBEZRERE
Listed equity investments, ASLAN American ~ EHIRZASIRE » IR ER
Depositary Shares, at fair value RG> HAREE 6,872,385 -
Listed equity investments, ASLAN shares, LHRRAKRE > SRR
at fair value 1n > BARERE - 1,306,520
6,872,385 1,306,520
The above equity investments were irrevocably designated MU ERARIGE T Aol HiH s E
at fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group BERAMBESFAECEZE R
considers these investments to be strategic in nature. ARERETALEREBFREMEE o
19.  INVENTORIES 19. #8
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Raw materials EMiE 19,966,387 16,600,227
Work in progress ERM 13,648,990 6,931,245
Finished goods X &a 30,777,575 24,842,652
64,392,952 48,374,124
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Year enaed 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 20. PFEUXBRFR R FEUN Z 1
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Trade receivables FE U BR 3R 101,426,571 53,369,322
Impairment A (119,680) (168,039)
101,306,891 53,201,283
Bills receivable FE U 2= 4% 43,902,074 38,164,180
145,208,965 91,365,463
The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on AEFREEFZEZAFRAETE

credit, except for new customers where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit periods range from 60 to 180 days.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the
Group’s trade and bills receivables relate to a large number of
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade and bills receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at
the end of each reporting period, based on the invoice date and
net of loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables, is as
follows:

LERAT W ER—REEEL
I8 o EEHIEE B60E180K A E o
SEBHREBRERIEETEKRE
T WREEERENMBEERR
RERE SHREEEEHHEREAE
ER o BN EXFIBERRAERZ
RUERMRERER I RBRERR
W EEREREERR - AERW
FERF AR EWRREHRAVIEIR R
HEMREELZH - BIERAREU
ZEARE o

RE|EHR > UERAPAEE
IR FE UL AR TR 2 BB 5 1R 2 1 BY B LUK
RN BN REZIRE DTN

2021 2020

HK$ HK$

AT BT

Within 2 months pA(EN=RA 119,388,389 73,441,691
2 to 3 months 2ZE3@EAB 9,855,152 5,835,823
Over 3 months IEHEMUE 15,965,424 12,087,949
145,208,965 91,365,463
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. FEWARTR B FEWR SRR ()
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of FEWEERR 2 BEBERE ZEH)
trade receivables are as follows: mT
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At beginning of year RER] 168,039 4,721
(Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment (B ERERE)
losses, net REREREE (48,359) 163,318
At end of year RELR 119,680 168,039
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting REDTREREEHIPET A
date by assigning an internal credit rating with reference to RASEZREENBETRGE TR
the historical records of the Group to determine the probability EEMNE > UTENNATREY - B
of default. Loss given default is estimated based on market MEXDIRBEHIZERMEE - BIEX
information. The loss rate is then adjusted to reflect the current HEeEgELRARE  URMREFBELR
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as HAR RGN RTER (EH) o —
appropriate. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past fRms > BUWERRMBSRBE—FH
due for more than one year and are not subject to enforcement AZRE T EEIRE > G o
activity.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TXHEINEAEBMERERZEE
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables: REEN
Expected Gross Expected
credit carrying credit
Class of credit rating EETRER Notes loss rate amount losses
FEHfEE FEHEE
B 5 BEE MRMEE E548
% HK$ HK$
BT BT
As at 31 March 2021 F220214E3H8318
Class 1 #1148 (i) - 66,107,831 -
Class 2 248 (ii) 0.18 32,877,515 60,266
Class 3 E=RE] (iii) 1.86 1,678,610 31,191
Class 4 $45E (iv) 3.70 762,615 28,223
Total 4z 101,426,571 119,680
As at 31 March 2020 72020538318
Class 1 14 (i) _ 46,669,027 -
Class 2 EpE (i) 023 1,460,245 3,346
Class 3 #5348 (i) 286 4,716,214 135,037
Class 4 B48E (iv) 5.66 523,836 29,656
Total 4Est 53,369,322 168,039
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20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. FEURBRFER B FEWZ= 45 (@)

Notes:

(i) Class 1 customers maintain active business with the Group and have a
good repayment history. Receivables were not yet past due.

(ii) Class 2 customers maintain active business with the Group and have
a good repayment history. Certain portion of receivables from these
customers were past due but the Group expects that the receivables
can be recovered.

(i) Class 3 customers have no recent transactions with the Group but
have a good repayment history. Receivables were past due but the
Group expects that the receivables can be recovered.

(iv)  Class 4 customers have past due receivables and the Group expects
higher risk of irrecoverability for the receivables.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai), a subsidiary of the Group, discounted
certain bills receivable without recourse to banks in Mainland
China (the “Derecognised Bills”) with a carrying amount in
aggregate of RMB3,858,060 (equivalent to HK$4,186,924). The
Derecognised Bills had a maturity of one to six months at the end
of the reporting period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable
Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills
have a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks
default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the
directors, the Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has
derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills.
The maximum exposure to loss from the Group’s Continuing
Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash
flows to repurchase these Derecognised Bills is equal to their
carrying amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of
the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills are
not significant. The Group has not recognised any gain or loss on
the date of transfer of the Derecognised Bills. No gains or losses
were recognised from the Continuing Involvement, both during the
year and up to the date of approval of these financial statements.

MisE

() HHEFPASEEFRTEEEBEIR
R RYF o FEWERFR S KRB -

(i) SEFPAKXAEERFERERER
RERCHREBE - LERENETHE
WA B » BAEBIBT AT URE

(i) HEERTHRIEBEREBRETR
5 BERCHRYT - BKRKER®
5 > (BAE B TEE AT UL O FEIKRARR o

(v SBEERNEWERMESH > BFEE
TRt REWER T AW R ES E % -

R & E2020FE38318 LLEE »
SEBMZHBATRKEE (BiE) U
BEREEERAHRAEAARE
3,858,0607C (48 & £24,186,92478 7T) B9
ETRERZERDDEAENIRTAIR
(‘BRIEERER) - RIREHEK
ZECRIERIZENIHEEE—F
A@H RBPEZRE > MPEN

i%’E%tﬁwE#mhﬁA
ﬁ¢$.ﬁL?@@h@ £1") o

A ¢$l8ﬁﬁ€%tﬁmﬁ
BERNBAZ D ER KREREE o
At > ZEBBRIEFED SR IEFED
%%memﬁﬁﬁol$$lram
mﬁmE#MﬁE%ﬁ&mrﬁﬁﬁ

ERIEERZENRERRERE

ﬁéim SBEERREENERE
B -EFRA ~EEFESHEBER

ILERZENAANBELERESE - &
EETENEREERLRIZEAE

REMKENER FAKEES
MBRREMEBIMS > LERF
B2 AR A -
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. FEWARTR B FEW SRR ()
During the year ended 31 March 2021, no bills receivable REE2021F383MBHIEFE » &
were discounted to banks by the Group. EEMERRTETRKERMIR
The bills receivable are due within 90 days and are ZERWEEIROE A EIH
classified as financial assets at fair value through other ToEAEARBEFAEEZEK
comprehensive income. In the opinion of the Company’s directors, HENEREE ARBEEERE Z
the fair values of these bills receivable are approximate to their ZFRWEBNAABEEEREENE
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these & FTERHRZERWERNEIE
receivables. There was no recent history of default from bills HAAPRERAE o MM IRV HAELD
receivable and the Group estimated that the expected loss rate soakm A Bt FEWE R TERRES
for bills receivable is minimal. BXRERE-
21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21, FAIRIE - RERHERIR
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Non-current JEFRED
Deposit for acquisition of items of: WU TEEZES :
Property, plant and equipment ME -~ BE R 1,469,272 1,882,893
Other intangible assets HegFEE 9,876,247 -
11,345,519 1,882,893
Current mE
Prepayments FEftHIE 8,143,414 5,263,280
Deposits BE 2,973,418 7,380,456
Other receivables HE R 2,995,207 1,452,835
14,112,039 14,096,571
Impairment allowance HEEE (62,378) (42,949)
14,049,661 14,053,622
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Year enaed 31 March 2021 BLE 202143531 H IFFEE

21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. FEfIFIE - BREREEREUI @)

(continued)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of BERHETCRWERZ R ERER
deposits and other receivables are as follows: BZEEWT -
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
B BT
At beginning of year RER] 42,949 68,251
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) losses, net & {& (¥ [EliF (&) E518;9 28 19,429 (25,302)
At end of year RER 62,378 42,949
During the year ended 31 March 2021, HK$19,429 was REE2021F383MBHLEEE >
charged as provision for expected credit losses on deposits 19 1298 TTIEAERETER KRG ZTE
and other receivables. During the year ended 31 March 2020, HAE B EEBEMINR o R E E2020
HK$25,302 was credited as a reversal of provision for expected FIFANBILFE > 253028 TEA %
credit losses on deposits and other receivables. The provision ERETCERBRRZBHREERERE
rates are based on an internal credit rating with reference to BoMmE:S - BEXEDERE %ZIK$
the historical records of the Group to determine the probability BTz ABEETHEUAEE
of default. Loss given default is estimated based on market AR - BHBEKILIRETHRER TE
information. The loss rate is then adjusted to reflect the current o BARXKEMAERURMER KR
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as R R R HEARTTRA (N &)
appropriate.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TX&EIAEBIZERETRK
exposure on the Group’s deposits and other receivables: RZEERRER :
As at 31 March 2021 4202138318
Expected credit loss rate %Eﬁﬁ{*‘ééﬂﬁ% 1.0%
Gross carrying amount (HK$) HEREE (BrT) 5,968,625
Expected credit losses (HK$) TEHRE E k518 (B o) 62,378
As at 31 March 2020 2020538 31H
Expected credit loss rate JEHRE BB EX 0.5%
Gross carrying amount (HK$) MERmEE (BJT) 8,833,291
Expected credit losses (HK$) TEHRE ER518 (B o) 42,949
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22.  STRUCTURED DEPOSITS

Structured deposits were stated at fair value and
represented wealth management products issued by a bank.
As at 31 March 2020, the aggregate principal of deposits was
fully guaranteed by the bank while the rates of return were not
guaranteed. The structured deposits were classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition. The
fair values were based on the market values provided by the bank
at the end of the reporting period.

23.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s cash and
bank balances (excluding those classified as held for sale)
denominated in RMB amounted to HK$197,594,925 (2020:
HK$273,499,384). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

24. TRADE PAYABLES
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of

each of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

22

23.

24,

EREER

EREEREAAEETIER R
RI[FITEITHMEEEEM © 122020
FI/3E > FRAEZREEHIRITEH
#R > BEHRRLEER - GBER
M ERERE D AR BE B R R R
AREBEZEMEE 2AAEBERE
RIFITHRBREMREHRZTHEE -

RERBAEFEEE

REIBEHR » FEBUARKET
BZRERIRTHER (FEEREARE
fEHEE) 197,594,925 7T (20204 :
273,499,384 7T) - ARBATERR
BAHTCEE AR EKRES
EEEHIIROIRAEE - EERMGESE
RE > NEBUBEEREETINEE
BZRITBARBRBRAEECEK o

EFRIRTZREBENESAIRTE
A REF SF REREF S o RITAS
HERNRETEERCHZEER
YFRIERTT ©

FE {3 AR R

REJREER > UREAHAE
ERNRBMRMZEREDHWT :

2021 2020

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Within 2 months pA(EY=N 80,631,010 26,226,913
2 to 3 months 2E3ME A 1,660,465 308,228
Over 3 months MEB UL 5,620,152 2,261,895
87,911,627 28,797,036

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled within terms of 30 to 60 days.

IR A RS » —RI0E
BORABE ©
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25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25. HERIRRENER
2021 2020
Notes HK$ HK$
Mi5E BT BT
Contract liabilities BHEE (a) 11,758,764 6,347,292
Other payables HERBMAM (b) 6,463,954 9,545,257
Accruals FEstE R 59,903,601 72,083,872
Dividend payables FEFRR B 3,001,536 2,734,042
81,127,855 90,710,463
Notes: sk :
(@)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (a) BEHNaFEHFBUT:
31 March 2021 31 March 2020 1 April 2019
20214E3831H  2020%3H31H 201948 1H
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Short-term advances received from customers  BUIE B 5EHAEATR
Sale of products and medical services HEERABERT 11,758,764 6,347,292 12,824,486
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver EHEREERNBEERRIZMHE
pharmaceutical products and provide medical services. The increase ERFEHEWZHARR - 2021F &5 &
in contract liabilities in 2021 was mainly due to the increase in short- BEEMFrERHERFRMBERPE
term advances received from customers in relation to the sale of ERtHEZ BT R AL MR
pharmaceutical and Chinese medical products at the end of the year. B o200 F5NEERVEERHRE
The decrease in contract liabilities in 2020 was mainly due to the FEHEBREELRERNBKERE
decrease in short-term advances received from customers in relation BRI D FREY ©

to the sale of pharmaceutical products at the end of the year.

(b)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of b) HEEBSRAHAFNE > A=A
three months. B
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26.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 26. s ESRITEM
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
W1E3F/MA NNF3IB3AE
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$ ate (%) Maturity HKS
BBAEY)  FBEEE #Br BBARY)  HEEE B
Current; e,
Bank loans - secured RITER-BHER 4.85- 515 2002 18,894,201 545 2021 607,735
NNE WHE
Non-current; FERE
Bank loans - secured RTER-BH#E 485-515  2023-2025 110,804,078 515 2022 - 2025 19,609,029
NBE W04
— 20256 - 2005
129,698,279 20,216,764
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
AT BT
Analysed into: pak i
Bank loans repayable: BARUTHEEEN
ﬁE Al :l: .
Within one year or on demand —F W 'JZ?Z‘? BiE 18,894,201 607,735
In the second year BFZER 47,500,046 2,723,955
In the third to fifth years, inclusive ”"_EMEEQEW
(BiEERME) 63,304,032 16,885,074
129,698,279 20,216,764

Notes:

14 BRI

The bank loans bear interest at floating rates at the China Loan Prime
Rate (“China LPR”), published by the People’s Bank of China, plus 1%
and are denominated in Renminbi.

As at 31 March 2021, the bank loans were secured by the pledge
of certain of the Group’s right-of-use assets, property, plant and
equipment and assets of a disposal group held for sale with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$436,338,196 (2020:
HK$272,843,495). In the opinion of the Company's directors, the
pledge of assets of a disposal group held for sale will be released
before disposal.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had unutilised banking facilities of
HK$93,693,024 (2020: HK$191,405,231).

(=

WITERRFHFE AETFEARR
ﬁ’&ﬂ‘ﬁﬁ’]qﬂlﬁTAﬁiivm-iE{aﬂKUuﬂ%)
STRMUAREREN -

F2021F38310 > RITERUBER
M & 28 49 #3436,338,1967% 7T (20204F :
272,843,495/ 7T) AR EE B S T AR
BE-WE BERRBUKRFESY
EZHEMMNZEEFIRR AQT
EEXZRA FEUHEZHERANZE
BRI E AR o

R20215E38318  AEBXREFHZ
$R 17 Rl B /393,693,024 7T (20204F :
191,405,23138 75) °
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27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 27. IRIERIEAR
Fair value Withholding
adjustment tax on
arising from Other distributable
acquisition of intangible profits of
a subsidiary assets subsidiaries Total
W -
HEAR WEAR
-3 HE ARk
DAEERE BIEE RNZENR ag
Notes HKS HKS HKS HKS
(i B BT BT BT
At 1 April 2019 R9E4R1R 526,917 6,251,282 330,390 7,108,589
Deferred tax (credited) charged to profi EREREGIA) /
or oss during the year Mgz BIEHE 10 (48,930) 974,944 105,776 1,031,790
Exchange realignment ERAE (31,965) (430,198) - (462,163)
At 31 March 2020 and at 1 April 2020 RANEI/IARK
R00E4B1R 446,022 6,796,028 436,166 7,678,216
Deferred tax credited to profitor loss EREBTIALZ
during th year RIEHE 10 (6423  (1850.70) (5260 (2259285
Exchange realignment EQ A% 35,631 515,447 - 551,078
At 31 March 2021 RO1EI/NA 425230 5,461,305 83,474 5,970,009

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong and
Australia of HK$134,477,000 (2020: HK$109,712,000) that are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of
the companies in which the losses arose. The Group also has tax
losses arising in Mainland China and Macau of HK$28,841,000
(2020: HK$21,352,000) that will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen from subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland
China. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5% (2020: 5%). The Group is therefore
liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividend by the Company to its shareholders.

KEBBREBEBRBEKT
TMmAERARANEEELSEIEZ
NERKRERMNEFN ZRIBEER
134,477,000 75 (20204F : 109,712,0007
75) o KEEINE R B R AR KB
) FA AR 35 81 R 2R FE eR AR i A Be A 2
—EREREMZIRIEET1E28,841,000
HIT (20204 : 21,352,000 7T) ©

MR ZFEREREERIE—KRE
BHMEAS > BRARAFIERRE
st M LUK SHAR #5518 » R B L
ZEGRERIELEIRAEE °

%I&A%S%FE K R B 7B B 4910% Y
FEIN o Z T B2008F 1A 1B £ £
K@ B MR2007E1R2AMBRELENR
& o 1%?*5*&9#.&%%?&7‘1
FHETURBELN - BRENEINR
RYERBE - AEEMS » BAKRE
#5% (20204 © 5%) o AUMtAERE BT
A B A B B AL B9 5% 5 T B /A =) 512008
F1RHEEERFFDIRAYAR S48
MBI o

25 A B (A B SRR A AR /S 3 Bt
WATISMER -
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28.

29.

146 ESEEECPE

SHARE CAPITAL 28. fg7s
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Authorised: ERE
4,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each ~ 4,000,000,0000% &= &
HEIBITZZER 400,000,000 400,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHRE :
2,150,041,884 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each ~ 2,150,041,884h% = &
EEIBTZEER 215,004,188 215,004,188
RESERVES 29. {#fE

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the reporting period are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 68 of the financial
statements.

The capital contribution reserve represents (1) the excess
of the disposal consideration over the fair value of the disposal
of Tinwise Investment Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Tinwise
Group”) in 2010 as a deemed contribution from a shareholder;
(2) the excess of the disposal consideration over the fair value of
the disposal of the packaging and printing business in 2012 as a
deemed capital contribution from the ultimate holding company;
and (3) the excess of the disposal consideration over the fair
value of the disposal of mineral resources business in 2012 as a
deemed capital contribution from the ultimate holding company.

The special reserve represents the difference between
the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company
and the nominal amount of the share capital of a subsidiary
acquired by the Company pursuant to a corporate reorganisation
in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange in 1992.

A R4S HA 2 B B R A
LIRSt e E PP T
HEHE o

HE#EBEARLRI) 2010EHE X
AT EE M B A S Tinwise Investment
Limited Bz E [ff B A B (4 F8 Tinwisefe
) ZREESNRFAEEZAREE
EA—BREZREHE ; (2) 20125
HEGRERINRIERE ZRKESHTH
EZAREE FARKRERATZ
BIEHE ; RO) 0NREHERES R
¥R AEENRFAYEEZAREE
EARBERATZHRIEHE -

BRlfEBEDARBRRE—IARE
BHARRABRMDI92FEEB R £
METZ AR EEMETZRAEE
BRI IE— R B AR Z A mEW
Bz E
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29.

30.

RESERVES (continued)

The statutory reserve represents (1) the appropriation of
certain percentages of profit after taxation of the subsidiaries
established in the PRC as recommended by the directors of those
subsidiaries based on the PRC statutory financial statements
and (2) the provision for production safety being accrued by a
subsidiary in the PRC at fixed rates ranging from 2% to 4% based
on operating revenue (the maintenance and production safety
funds), which is transferred from retained profits to the statutory
reserves and could be utilised when expenses and capital
expenditures in production maintenance and safety measures are
incurred.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material

29.

30.

#E @

ERE BT IR R E A AL Z Y
BRABZEEZRBEREEZEMFTRE
MmEZLZFH B RB ZRIREEF
FHETERLEZDERQEERSE
ZBE o LT — R R R B QB UE
BWABEERN F2%E4% 2 EEF]
RELE HEREELZEZES) > AR
BRMNEREAERE > BERNEES
BRZEEREESZHRERFHXEF
A -

BEEXFERERNBOESR
MEARE

BARERIFERED 2 ANEEK

non-controlling interests are set out below: BABFBEHINWT :
2021 2020
Percentage of equity interest held by EERESFAEN
non-controlling interests: B DL -
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical A g 45% 45%
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Profit for the year allocated to DEFIFERERN
non-controlling interests: KEERF :
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical R 1,224,264 5,657,211
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests: BT FIFERETRS -
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical R 6,942,271 14,505,712
Accumulated balances of non-controlling RS BRI AL
interests at the reporting date: R A RETAEER ¢
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical BRAEEE 33,786,248 36,986,233
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30. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL NON-  30. B EKRIFERESNIGIES
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) BB 2 8] (%)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TRAPAEEEENFEE R
information of Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical. The amounts Eo-WHENTHEREMFHEALAEM
disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: HEE Z Al

2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Revenue A 109,854,785 196,588,988
Total expenses e (107,134,201) (184,017,409)
Profit for the year KEE G 2,720,584 12,571,579
Total comprehensive income for the year rEEREMKGELE 8,316,191 7,161,972
Current assets TMENEE 48,967,168 60,185,748
Non-current assets ERIEE 46,245,901 47,179,059
Current liabilities REaE (19,828,782)  (24,784,300)
Non-current liabilities ERBER (303,734) (388,878)
Net cash flows from/(used in) kB (AR K& EEN
operating activities REREPEE 5,869,285 (6,309,913)
Net cash flows used in investing activities BREEEHNREREREE (387,684) (1,013,006)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BB ESNREREFEE (15,427,266) (31,203,560)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents HERREEEER

PEAARE ¥ 1

(9,945,665) (38,526,479)

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to the
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$17,191,177 (2020:
HK$1,144,752) and HK$17,191,177 (2020: HK$1,144,752),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for clinics, offices
and warehouses.

31.

SARERERME

(a EEBIIREXRS

FR O EXEBMLEA -PWRE
REENREZH > 2RFE17,191,177
# T (20204F @ 1,144,7528 7)) &
17,191, 1777 75 (20204F : 1,144,752
) NIEREFRAEEEREEASR
1an o
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31

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 31.

FLOWS (continued)

(b)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:

FAERERERME @

(b) RMEFBHEENRGEEE:

Interest- Duetoa
Lease bearing bank Dividend  non-controlling
liabilities borrowings payables shareholder
it FEf3 R 2 ARG
el RITIER RS RRMIE
HKS HKS HKS HK$
BT BT BT BT
At 1 Aprl 2019 Ba19E4R1A 8,951,530 - 2,503,819 14,505,712
Changes from financing cash flows ~ REBERS
MENEE (5,073,113) 20,901,531 - -
New leases Wig 1,144,752 - - -
Dividend declared (note 12) BERKE
(Ft312) - - 2,365,046 -
Dividends paid ERRE - - (2,134,823) -
Interest expense MERY 311,132 - - -
Interest paid classified as PEAKERERE
operating cash flows ZBfFIE (311,132) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling EffFERRES
interests ZRE - - - (14,505,712)
Foreign exchange movement SHMEZE (6,425) (684,767) - -
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 FA2020&3831B &
020F481H 5,016,744 20,216,764 2,734,042 -
Changes from financing cash flows ~ REBHERS
hENED (4,664,232) 104,887,229 - ;
New leases HHEE 17191477 - - -
Termination of leases HERIL (1715,011) - - -
Dividend declared (note 12) BERERE
(Rit512) - - 2,795,054 -
Dividends paid BRE - - (2,527,560)
Interest expense MERY 569,351 - - -
Interest paid classified as PEARERERE
operating cash flows ZBfFIE (569,351) - - -
Dividends declared to BERTFERER
non-controlling interests ZRE - - - 6,042,271
Dividends paid to B FizRERD
non-controlling interests a3} - - - (6,942,271)
Foreign exchange movement SHMEZE 3,045 4,504,286 - -
At 31 March 2021 R01EIBNAE 15,831,723 129,698,219 3,001,536 -
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 31.

FLOWS (continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:

SARFHRERME@®

(c) HEMNRERLEE
SFAGERENERNES R
MRERIE ¢

2021 2020

HK$ HK$

T BT

Within operating activities R EEHR (1,767,182) (1,406,008)
Within financing activities REEEHR (4,664,232) (5,073,113)
(6,431,414) (6,479,121)

32.  COMMITMENTS 32. KiE
The Group had the following capital commitments at the REBRNRBEHRBEUTERK
end of the reporting period: ¥#

2021 2020

HK$ HK$

#IT BT

Contracted, but not provided for: BETHEREE
Property, plant and equipment ME -~ BEKREE
Other intangible assets HEEBFLEE

85,595,795 133,075,811
14,814,371 -

100,410,166 133,075,811
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. BEALXRZS
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in (a) PFRMABBRRETCIHGHHFELZRS
these financial statements, the Group had the following b REERFEANHAREALTE
transactions with related parties during the year: TUTRS -
2021 2020
Notes HK$ HK$
M E BT BT
Sales of healthcare products: HERBER
Yunnan Pu’ Er Tea Developments Ltd. EfEZEREX LR
BERAT () 315,866 -
Purchases of package materials and R & B8 R ENRI4 )
designing services:
Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng BRSBTS B A (i
Printing Co. Ltd. NBERAE 6,447,918 3,959,658
Short-term lease payment for an office A ZEfEHATHE TN -
space
Tianda (China) Ltd. RREZE (PE) BR2E (i) 563,740 552,888
Design fee expenses: REE
Shenzhen Tianda Creative Ltd. FINKKRBIBBRAR (iv) - 101,413
Notes: B EE :

(i) Yunnan Pu’ Er Tea Developments Ltd. is a fellow subsidiary of
the Company. The sales to Yunnan Pu’ Er Tea Developments
Ltd. were made according to the published prices and
conditions offered to major customers of the Group.

(if) Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing Co. Ltd. is a fellow
subsidiary of the Company. The purchases from Zhuhai S.E.Z.
Cheng Cheng Printing Co. Ltd. were made according to the
published prices and conditions offered by Zhuhai S.E.Z.
Cheng Cheng Printing Co. Ltd. to its major customers.

(i) Tianda (China) Ltd. is a fellow subsidiary of the Company. The
transactions were conducted in accordance with the terms and
conditions mutually agreed by both parties.

(iv)  Shenzhen Tianda Creative Ltd. is a fellow subsidiary of the
Company. The transactions were conducted in accordance with
the terms and conditions mutually agreed by both parties.

() ZEEEEREXERBBRABS
TRENRRKME AT - MERE
EEREXRERARABNHE
DRAREBRKRASERTER
FIRHEARAETT -

(i)  HFEBEEREHMENFBERAT
AEATNERBAR - @K
BREREMMENFARAB K
BEEKBSEERERMENBE
RABREREIERRZER
B RARR o

(i) RRKEBE (FE) BRATDAE
ATHNERMBAR - BREAXS
ThRE S EERE Z R R R4
ET o

vy RINKREIEBRABBEAT
NERKMBAF o ﬁﬁﬁx%ﬂﬁﬁ
L5 E R IR HET
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 33. FAE

(b)  Outstanding balance with a related party: (b)

The Group had an outstanding trade balance due to a
fellow subsidiary, Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing
Co. Ltd., of HK$3,628,289 (2020: HK$589,478) as at the
end of the reporting period. This balance is unsecured,
non-interest bearing and with a credit term within 90 days.
As at the end of the reporting period, the balance was aged
within 2 months based on the invoice date.

ATRH @
BRRE AT 2 REBIELER .

AEBMMP RS HRENSREZR M
|8 A B Bk i3 48 5 5 & o AR EN 75
BRQABZAREEEREGRS
3,628,289 75 (20204 : 589,478
7o) c AR ABIKE -RER
EEHAIKRA - RI|EHAR »
AR 2RI ARBEEZERRZ
MmER A o

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: (c) AEETEEEBEAEME:

2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Short term employee benefits MRHEEREF 5,696,059 4,029,893
Post-employment benefits RIREF 72,000 79,500

Total compensation paid to key ENTEEEAENESLEZE
management personnel 5,768,059 4,109,393

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial
statements.

(d)  On 22 February 2019, the Group entered into a conditional (d)
sale and purchase agreement to dispose of its entire
interest in Zhuhai Realty to Tianda Group Limited (the
controlling shareholder of the Company) at a consideration
of no more than RMB145,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$168,200,000) in any event.

The transaction was approved by independent shareholders
at an extraordinary general meeting held on 7 May 2019
and has not yet been completed as at the date of approval
of these financial statements.

Further details of the transaction are included in note 11 to
the financial statements.

BERESEAETETBRAEMEZ
E—DFEHN M HRARMIEES o

12019528228 » A E BT 3L
ERGEEHZE ARXKEH
BERQ2E HALXRQXTIZER
BRE) HEKEBEX 22 #
& REEEABRHEAEBE
A B #145,000,0007c (185 1 4
168,200,000 7T) ©

B ZBEN2019FE587H 217
ZIRESRAS EEE IR
MR A S RRENE B HAM
R °

RBpZE—THBHRMBRE
PysE11

RAAREARAE
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34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 4. EMITAZER

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REESHARSESMTAZIRA
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: BAOTF
2021

Financial assets

EREE

Financial assets at
fair value through other
comprehensive income

BARBEHA
He2EWEZ2EMEE
Financial
assets at
amortised Equity Debt
cost investments instruments Total
RS
SIkRZ
tRHEE RERE REIR ek
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT AT AT
Equity investments designated at fair value EEARAAEETA
through other comprehensive income He2EWEZREKE - 6,372,385 = 6,872,385
Trade receivables FEURBR TN 101,306,891 - - 101,306,891
Bills receivable e - - 43902074 43,902,074
Financial assets included in prepayments, SABMREBER
deposits and other receivables HeRBRZEMEE 5,006,247 - - 5,906,247
Cash and cash equivalents BeRESSEER 234,984,677 - - 234,984,677
342,197,815 6,872,385 43,902,074 392,972,274
Financial liabilities EMafE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
e SH R A 5 BR
ZERMAE
HK$
BT
Trade payables FE{FBRFR 87,911,627
Financial liabilities included in STARERMRKRESEE
other payables and accruals ZEmMEAE 57,231,419
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T EIRITER 129,698,279
Lease liabilities HEAaRE 15,831,723
Due to a fellow subsidiary F& < — R 2 B /&8 A Bl 7R 18 3,628,289
294,301,337
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34.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 3. EMIAZERN @
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RESHRSBEMTAZRE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: BT @ (&)
(continued)
2020
Financial assets EWMEE
Financial
assets at
fair value Financial assets at
through fair value through other
profit or loss comprehensive income
BRA
EEA
g BRAABESA
tHEE He2EWEZERERE
Financial
Mandatorily assets at
designated amortised Equity Debt
as such cost investments instruments Total
REBHERE
v
BHEE &HMEE RERE  BEIA fag
HKS HKS HKS HKS HK$
BT BT B B BT
Equity investments designated EEARAABEA
at fair value through other He2EWEZRERE
comprehensive income - - 1,306,520 - 1,306,520
Trade receivables AR - 53201283 - - 53201283
Bills receivable EWEE - - - 38,164,180 38,164,180
Financial assets included in SABARE EER
prepayments, deposits and HERKRZEeREE
other receivables - 8,790,342 - - 8,790,342
Structured deposits EREER 3,904,728 - - - 3904728
Cash and cash equivalents HeRHEEEER - 302,018,369 - - 302,018,369
3,904,728 364,009,994 1,306,520 38,164,180 407,385,422

IV xAzEEREAR
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34.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 34, EMIAZER @
Financial liabilities ERaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
YR 8 A AN 51 BR
ZERAaE
HK$
BT
Trade payables &1 BR =X 28,797,036
Financial liabilities included in other payables STAHERMRAESER
and accruals ZEMAasE 71,760,002
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHEIRITER 20,216,764
Lease liabilities HEaE 5,016,744
Due to a fellow subsidiary I —ERE AN B AR RIE 589,478
126,380,024
35.  FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL  35. €RITHAZAABERAAEBE
INSTRUMENTS 30
The carrying amounts and the fair values of the Group’s FEEMNESRTE KEEtE

financial instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that

HIRE(ERAANBESEREERIN)

reasonably approximate to fair value, are as follows: REERAABEUT
Carrying amounts Fair values
REE AREE
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
3H31H 3H31H 3H31H 3H31H
2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets EMEE
Equity investments designated EEABARBE
at fair value through other stAHEZEKE
comprehensive income ZRRAEKE 6,872,385 1,306,520 6,872,385 1,306,520
Bills receivable N ZER 43,902,074 38,164,180 43,902,074 38,164,180
Structured deposits EEMEER - 3,904,728 - 3,904,728
50,774,459 43,375,428 50,774,459 43,375,428
Financial liabilities AR
Interest-bearing bank borrowings S EBITER 129,698,279 20,216,764 129,678,937 20,011,182
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35.

1% EEEEEEPE

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of trade
and bills receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
trade payables, financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals, an amount due to a fellow subsidiary and an
amount due to a non-controlling shareholder approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities
are included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other
than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair value:

The fair value of the equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income is based on quoted market prices.

The fair values of structured deposits were based on the
market values provided by the bank at the end of the reporting
period. They are estimated with the principal plus estimated
interest income based on the expected annual rate of return.

The fair values of bills receivable and interest-bearing bank
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The fair
values of the interest-bearing bank borrowings are categorised in
Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

35.

EMITAZAREBERAREE
3 X))

EEEENE BRI B
RECSARMARE -RERHETRE
WRzEMEE RERREFER
B BRA - stARERMRKRE
STERZEMER BY—HERRKN
BABMRENREMN—RIFEREKRR
REZAABERERBZREEM
o TEHRZSIANEHREIR -

THEEREBBZAREER
HEEE S g AERIHNE) ZHm
ERRXZHRETKBITIANSEA
iR o BB TR ERBREEQR
B1E :

BRARBEFARECEERTZZ
RAEKEZ ARBEDHERTZRE -

EREERBQABEDRER
TREBESHREENOTENE - ZF
FERUEEM L RARERREFE
B 5t A S WA G T o

RWRE R BIRITERN AR
BEDRABHLUFR - EERARK
MFZHAAN T ANRAMNERRLHEE
HARKRFEMESE o st ERWITEM
NARBEIEARABESTRAL
B4R o
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 35.
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

EMITAZAREBERAREE
EiR @)

[ABEEEFR
TERARPEEBRESHMTANAR
BEFEFR:

Assets measured at fair value BAnBEAENEE
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Bills receivable FEU E 45
— Fair value measurement using significant —UERATHRE
observable inputs (Level 2) B A B
EBITAREE
st & (324R) 43,902,074 38,164,180
Structured deposits ERMEER
— Fair value measurement using significant —UEKRATHER
observable inputs (Level 2) B8 A B
EITAREE
st (5824R) - 3,904,728
Equity investments at fair value through other RAAREBEIAHTE
comprehensive income E2EMBEZRERE
- Fair value measurement using quoted prices — LUE BT IBIR(E
in active markets (Level 1) ETRANEE
stE (B1R) 6,872,385 1,306,520

The equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income investment are listed on National
Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations
(“NASDAQ”) Stock Market.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurement between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities
(2020: Nil).

BRARBEFARCEZERTEZ
REKENZEBSXZBHEED
WERG (WETER) REDISZ LS -

F220214F F 202038310 » &~ &
Bl ELARAEBESENEASHE

f&e

FR EREERERMEATE
BIUREBAURZE AN EEFTEFE
DU, Mt 42 88 A BX 84 i 5834R (20204F :

#®) -
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and cash equivalents and equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade and bills receivables, other receivables,

3. EREAKREEEIERBER

FEENTEZEEMTIAGER
ERREEEEEURE AR EBES
AHREZEBRmZRERE - &ZFE
MIANTZENZRTAEENE
E-AEFEEEFRANECEREE
k&afE:> HDFEH&EETA&FELIQW?F “H

trade payables, other payables and an amount due to a fellow TR~ BANERER - HERTR K
subsidiary. Wéﬁ-ﬁﬂlﬁ%ﬁﬂ%’&ﬁ%’ﬂﬁ
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instrument rEREMIAEENTERE

are equity price risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of
equity indices and the value of individual securities. The Group
is exposed to equity price risk arising from equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
(note 18) as at 31 March 2021. The Group’s listed investments
are listed on the NASDAQ and are valued at quoted market prices
at the end of the reporting period. The market equity indices for
the following stock exchanges, at the close of business of the
nearest trading day in the year to the end of the reporting period,

’@%Hﬂkf“%ﬂﬁw s MR E KR ~ S

573 ﬁz_gﬂp EZl)lL@Jﬁﬁﬂﬁ“" o B
%‘ﬁ%*jﬁ EAREEILERERN
BR > WHEEIT o

R s (B 15 LB
REBRAREZERAESFNA
AEERRKRERBOKFNERESE
B2 TR o 1202163831
B> ~EEEHREEARQAEES
AHEZHEWEZRFKRE (I5E18)
EEXNRABRER SEEN LT
RENWENER £ > B ERREH
RNTIBREMEE - UTHBFERSH
TIEREEH (FERAREBEERSH
RHRZZ BHWHE) UREFANE

and their respective highest and lowest points during the year Bl ERUT
were as follows:
High/low High/low
during the during the
As at year ended Asat  yearended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
B/ & 5/
#=E3R8 #]E38
M3R318 3MBALEEE M3A3ME MBLEFE
2021 2021 2020 2020
The United States - NASDAQ Composite %I MERET
Index (“COMP”) TRIEY 13,247 14,095/ - -
7,360 -
Taiwan - Taiwan Exchange Capitalisation & & — & 5 Fr
Weighted Stock Index (“TAIEX’) BEAREnE
REIEH - - 9,708 12,180/
- 8,681

18 B
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  36. &RiEMGEEBEEREE @
POLICIES (continued)
Equity price risk (continued) RAERE RS (8@
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every TRAPERESKREQAAEES
1% change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all SN RE FIEHEEERE
other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based RFEURTEHREAREBEZZER) »
on their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period. DERERKRENRKRSHHRNREE
/-
Carrying
amount Increase/
of equity (decrease)
investment in equity
R E RETE N
HEREE / GR)
HK$ HK$
BT BT
2021
Investments listed in: RUTHA EHHKRE
The United States — Equity investments EE—EEARAR 6,872,385  68,724/(68,724)
designated at fair value through other BEsFAHEERZE
comprehensive income Wiz A EE
2020
Investments listed in: RUT#S EHERE
Taiwan - Equity investments designated at fair B & —IEEARX AR 1,306,520  13,065/(13,065)
value through other comprehensive income BEFAEEZAE
Wz RAKE
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36.

1600 B

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash and bank
balances and interest-bearing bank borrowings with a floating
interest rate. The Group has not used any interest rate derivatives
to hedge its interest rate risk, and will consider hedging significant
interest rate risk should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s (loss)/profit before tax
(through the impact on floating rate of cash and cash equivalents
and interest-bearing bank borrowings).

36.

THRAMEEEEREE @

I 22 B
FEBEHTHANREFRRE
BHEAERRIIIRFAENRER
IRITHEERUKR Gt BIRITERBRM - &
SRV EEREMAMNRTEIANY
AHMNERRRE  BRRARERERE
HHERFEREAR -

TERARBPERBEHEEHFRE
BHER FIXESEAREEHHAE
EERIRAT (BB48) B HSRE (8
BESHHNEHRSRREFEEE N
Kt BIRITEMBIEE)

Increase/ Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)  (decrease)

(decrease) in loss in profit

in basis points  before tax before tax

PR AT PRIR AN

K518 i F1

EHE 1)) wgm,

g, GEd) (iR ) (iR )

2021 2020

HK$ HK$

T BT

HK$ BT 100 (356,522) 270,808
RMB AR 100 (811,594) 2,532,826
usb E7T 100 (7) 7
HK$ BT (100) 356,522 (270,808)
RMB ARE (100) 811,594  (2,532,826)
usb ETT (100) 7 (7)
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales by operating units in currencies other
than the units’ functional currencies. Approximately 0.4% (2020:
0.4%) of the Group’s sales were denominated in currencies other
than the functional currencies of the operating units making the
sale.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the foreign currency exchange rate, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s (loss)/profit before tax.

3. EREMREEEERBE @

b L B

FEEEFEERZEERRE - B
R REEEBMREMINEER
BN E I Z $HE © 490.4% (20204F :
0.4%) Z AREMHE B UEITHE 2
SEMUNEBANEEEUINNEES
REEEEL -

TRABEFFBEHECEHFRER
SrER  INEERSIESEEE Y
AEERIRA (BR) EF R REH
ROBRE ©

Increase/

Change in (decrease)

foreign currency in loss

rate before tax

ShEE BRMAIESIR

EREE Hm L)

% HK$

BT

2021

If RMB weakens against HK$ HEARBRBITERTHR 1 (313,963)
If RMB strengthens against HK$ HEARBRBTERLH (1) 313,963
If RMB weakens against AUD HWEARERRITER TR 1 (6,211)
If RMB strengthens against AUD HEARERBETER A (1) 6,211
If RMB weakens against MOP HEARBRRMTEERTHR 1 (8,821)
If RMB strengthens against MOP HEARBRRMTEER LH (1) 8,821
Increase/

Change in (decrease)

foreign currency in profit

rate before tax

ShEE BRATER

EXgs Em GRl)

% HK$

BT

2020

If RMB weakens against HK$ HEARBRBITERTHR 1 225,574
If RMB strengthens against HK$ HEARBRBTERLH 1) (225,574)
If RMB weakens against AUD HEARBRRITERTEK 1 3,898
If RMB strengthens against AUD HEARBRRTER L#H (1) (3,898)
If RMB weakens against MOP WEARERBEMATERT® 1 10,303
If RMB strengthens against MOP WEARERBRFTER LA 1) (10,303)
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36.

([ *rzesREAR

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  36. RIEMEEBEZEREE @
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk EERE
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy REREEFDUIREEREFNS
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who ZHETRS - AEENEEKZE > Fr
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification BEUGERRETRZNEFRIGEA
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on BIBEEZERRF o by > EUERER
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not BRREET DR ) AEEIRRA
significant. AKX o
Maximum exposure and year-end staging RERERELSER
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TREJNENREAEEZEEEE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which ZEEEEREEEERAR  XEHE
is mainly based on past due information unless other information REERER RIEEHEERAIERAN
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging HRMERBIRBZHZERTER) >
classification as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross MUKRRIBIMNB Z &S o 2
carrying amounts for financial assets. JINEEAETRMEENAIREE-
As at 31 March 2021 F20214E3H831H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12fBA M
EEBE 2HFEHEESE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1PEER B HIEER  MEERE @
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Trade receivables* FE W BR = - - - 101,426,571 101,426,571
Bills receivable e 43,902,074 - - - 43,002,074
Financial assets included in FABMRIE 2
prepayments, deposits and RECRHZ
other receivables EHMEE
- Normal** —E&E" 5,968,625 - - - 5,968,625
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEBEEER
— Not yet past due CE St 234,984,677 - = - 234,984,677
284,855,376 - - 101,426,571 386,281,947
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

3. EREMREEEERBE @

Credit risk (continued) EERR @)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) REBERFEEEER (B
As at 31 March 2020 122020538 31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12181 A T HA
FEEE 2MRBEESE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FEE MR BB WEARE Mzt
HKS HK$ HKS HK$ HK$
BT B BT BT B
Trade receivables* FE L BR Fr* - - - 53369322 53,369,322
Bills receivable ek ZEE 38,164,180 - - - 38,164,180
Financial assets included in SARMRE #E
prepayments, deposits and REECREZZ
other receivables EMEE
- Normal** —Eg" 8,833,291 - - - 8,833,291
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEER
— Not yet past due — B R 302,018,369 - - - 302,018,369
349,015,840 - - 53,369,322 402,385,162

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information based on the credit rating is
disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they
are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.

%

MEEEERHBERBHESEZ
RUERRMS » BEREETRZER
1 RA 35 4R R M E204% 8% o

SAARNRE - BERHEEREBERRZ
TMEEZEEEZRNAMTRMEE
BRI A R > WEE R
TEHERMBEEZEERRBEBERE
SRMLURAEEEM - BRI ARESRE
EZEEERRAARE -
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36. £RiEAMBEBAEREE @

POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk M E = E R
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between rEEZBRSEEBERRT
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans EMKREEZRAREREUERFE
and projected cash flows from operations. EREHEREEG M T -
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as RIBE TR > REE
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual THEBERHRSHRZIPERNOT :

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

2021
On demand
or no later 1to
than 1 year 5 years Total
BREXY
—EUTF —ERE k]
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Trade payables FEfTERR 87,911,627 - 87,911,627
Other payables and accruals HeRAmREFER 57,231,419 - 57,231,419
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SERTER 25,032,195 118,467,999 143,500,194
Lease liabilities HEERE 4,864,656 12,478,237 17,342,893
Due to a fellow subsidiary Ei—BRZNBARDRE 3,626,280 - 3,628,289
178,668,186 130,946,236 309,614,422
2020
On demand
or no later Tto
than 1 year 5 years Total
REXY,
—FENF —-35F oz
HKS HK$ HK$
BT B BT
Trade payables FEfTIRAR 28,797,036 - 28,797,036
Other payables and accruals HeROHRESER 71,760,002 - 71,760,002
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SEBRTER 1,642,896 21,915,307 23,558,203
Lease liabilities HEaf 4449114 710,532 5,159,646
Due to a fellow subsidiary ER—HRzNBARZIE 589,478 - 580,478
107 238,526 22,625,839 129,864,365

1 RS
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support
its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and
the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended
31 March 2021 and 2020.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
debt divided by the equity attributable to owners of the parent.
Debt includes interest-bearing bank borrowings. Capital includes
equity attributable to owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as

36.

TRAMEEEEREE @

BFXER

FEFEAEENTIEZBRER
EAEBFECENESN  LRER
BHEARLER UXFEEBFALEIR
IREREESZKIE-

KEBRBEER T E ) R AE R
EENERFHEEEAGEBL DY
AR HERNABEREE  £&
E A RERRRIKTHRE  ARKRR
REBXRFFITHMRG - FEEFR
ERISMERFEINB E AR EZKFRIR - ®E
20214F 220205 3831H L F B » BIE
BEXANER  BRNEFLEEE -

FrEBERAELBRLER BIE
BRUBABRREGER ERE
Ko BHEBESBRITER -BEEXE
BEARRREGEDT - BERSH

at the end of the reporting periods were as follows: RANELABBLEENT :
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
B BT
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STEIRITER 129,698,279 20,216,764
Equity attributable to owners of the parent FATKRREGED 756,708,516 722,776,555
Gearing ratio BERBMAEEE 17.1% 2.7%
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37. STATEMENT OF THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 37. ZAABZHBKRRER

COMPANY

BRI RBRREHRZIHFENR

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: MRZERNMT :
2021 2020
HK$ HK$
BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JERENE E
Plant and equipment i BB Ke 5% 390,930 679,464
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 14,876,981 3,814,176
Due from subsidiaries FPE Ui Bf J&B A B) FRIE 312,608,402 293,229,276
Investments in subsidiaries REEBABZRE 296,280,826 296,280,826
Total non-current assets ERHEELEE 624,157,139 594,003,742
CURRENT ASSETS MMEE
Deposits and other receivables BERECERR 2,174,858 2,410,630
Cash and cash equivalents HeERIREEEEB 136,150,293 155,381,853
Total current assets MENBEEHE 138,325,151 157,792,483
CURRENT LIABILITIES gD =R
Other payables HEEMNH 6,442,474 6,714,601
Lease liabilities HEAaE 3,754,114 3,897,118
Due to a subsidiary FE {5 Bt 8 A B FRIE 285,636 409,415
Total current liabilities TmEIBEMEEE 10,482,224 11,021,134
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEBEEFE 127,842,927 146,771,349
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EE R GEI&E 752,000,066 740,775,091
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JERENEME
Lease liabilities HEas 11,392,421 -
Total non-current liabilities JEREIERAE%E 11,392,421 -
NET ASSETS BEFE 740,607,645 740,775,091
EQUITY R
Share capital 14 215,004,188 215,004,188
Reserves (note) Rt (M) 525,603,457 525,770,903
TOTAL EQUITY s 4aEE 740,607,645 740,775,091
Fang Wen Quan Lui Man Sang
X axX4%t
Chairman Executive Director
EBEER HITEE
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY  37. ZABZHBIRRRER @

(continued)
Note: M T
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KARREZHBENT !
Capital Capital Exchange
Share  redemption  contribution fluctuation Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
N 7N ER
RmiEE  EEGEE  HREE ORBEE REET ek
HKS HKS HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
At 1 April 2019 12201954818 355,702,578 67,400 88441310  (21,837,132) 110,018,537 532,392,693
Profit for the year KEEEF - - - - 5,090,833 5,090,833
Exchange difference arising on translation HEELEZEREEE - - - (9,347,577 - (9,347,5M)

Total comprehensive loss for the year rEEREBBEE - -

(9,347,577) 5,090,833 (4,256,744)

Final 2019 dividends declared EER019ERBRE - - - o (2365046)  (2,365,046)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 2020838318 K&

20204818 355,702,578 67,400 88441310  (31,184,709) 112,744,324 525,770,903
Loss for the year rEERE - - - - (9,488,293)  (9,488,293)
Exchange difference arising on translation #HEELZERZE - - - 12,115,901 - 12,115,901

Total comprehensive income for the year ~ AEE 2 EINHEEE - -

12,115,901 (9,488,293) 2,627,608

Final 2020 dividends declared BEIR020FRAKE - - - - (2,795054)  (2,795,054)
At 31 March 2021 2021538310 355,702,578 67,400 88,441,310  (19,068,808) 100,460,977 525,603,457
38, APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 38. MBHRRZME
The financial statements were approved and authorised for FRREF20215F6 25 B E
issue by the board of directors on 25 June 2021. FERERAETIE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A

RESULTS
E 3
Year ended 31 March
HERNBLEE
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
THET FHET THET FTHET T#x
Revenue WA 195,539 361,555 527,003 491,475 474,332
(Loss)/Profit before tax br#AT (B518) /& F 32,750 29,942 26,167 15,928 (27,442)
Income tax credit/(expense)  Fr{SIRIER (2 H) (7,997) (7,780) (10,184) (7,128) 1,524
(Loss)/Profit for the year AEE (F518) /8H 24,753 22,162 15,983 8,800 (25,918)
(Loss)/Profit attributable to:  (#518) /HFIERBH
Owners of the parent BRATKRE 12,442 10,008 2,657 3,143 (27,142)
Non-controlling interests R 12,311 12,154 13,326 5,657 1,224
24,753 22,162 15,983 8,800 (25,918)
HK cent HK cent HK cent HK cent HK cent
AL AL =311 Bl Al
(Loss)/Earnings per share &% (§538) /&7 0.58 047 0.12 0.15 (1.26)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
BERAR
At 31 March
#3831H
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FExT
Total assets BERE 904,120 1,045,308 996,769 933,123 1,133,461
Total liabilities BER%E (91,156) (159,723) (185,803) (173,360) (342,966)
812,964 885,585 810,966 759,763 790,495
Equity attributable to owners B’A T BR R
of the parent FE 5 1 2 778,322 847,728 777,203 722,777 756,709
Non-controlling interests R 34,642 37,857 33,763 36,986 33,786
812,964 885,585 810,966 759,763 790,495

168 B



IERVRERE R KHIS
TIANDA FOR HEALTH




	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	企業架構
	董事簡歷
	董事長報告
	管理層討論與分析
	企業管治報告
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其它全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	財務摘要
	封底

